
COMMITTEE ON ACCESS TO FAMILY COURTS 
 

 AGENDA 
Office of State Courts Administrator 

121 Alameda Drive, Conference Room B 
August 28, 2009 

10:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. 
 

I. Call to Order 
 
 A. Approval of June 5, 2009, Meeting Minutes 
   Attachment page 3 
  

B. Introduction of New Members 
 
II. Status Updates 
 

A. Alliances with State / Local Bar Associations / Pro Bono Initiatives 
(Recommendations #6 & #7) (Stewart/DeFeo) 

1. Proposed amendments to the Approved “Matchmaking Pro Bono Attorneys 
with Needy Clients” Plan (DeFeo) 

2. Dialog with Keith Birkes Regarding MoBar Long-Range Plan and 
Implementation (DeFeo) 

  3. Update on Delivery of Legal Services Subcommittee (DeFeo/Scott) 
  4. Update on Special MoBar Meeting to review CAFC Pro Bono Plan (DeFeo/Scott) 
 

B. Forms (Recommendation #8) (Smith) 
  1. Review by Family Court Committee  
   Attachment page 9 
  2. Legislative Changes to Dissolution of Marriage Forms 
   Verbal update 

 3. Certificate of Completion Filing 
  Attachment page 13 

4. Forms Distribution - Department of Corrections 
Attachment page 14 

 
C. Self-Help Centers (Schneider) 

  
 D. Litigant Education (Recommendations #1 & #5) (Bird/Brown) 
  1. Brochure for Clerk's Offices  

a. Update (Norris) 
  2. DVD (Kathleen Bird) 
   Attachment page 16 
   a. Delivery methods on Web page and YouTube 

3. Self-Assessment and Completion Survey for Non-Web Users 
Attachment page 24 

4. New Education Components — Paternity, Name Change, Family Access 
(Brown) 

Page 1 of 67



   Attachment page 34 
a. Comments from Legal Aid of Western Missouri 

    Attachment page 43 
 
 E. Web Site (Recommendation #4) (Bird/Norris) 

1. Survey 
a. Comments Received (May – June, 2009) 

Attachment page 45 
b. First Year Statistics 

Attachment page 47 
c. Proposed Revised Survey (Martinez, Stoeckl) 

Attachment page 55 
  2. FAQ 
   Attachment page 58 

3. Web Site Organization (Request from Clerk) 
Attachment page 59 

 
F. Communications (Cruse) 

  1. Draft Correspondence for Distribution of Brochures and DVDs 
 

G. Court Staff / Clerk Education (Recommendation #2) (Bird) 
 Nothing to report. 

 
H. Judicial Education (Recommendation #3) (Williamson) 
 1. Judge Brent Powell appointed to Trial Judge Education Committee 
 2. Judicial College Update 

 
 I. Funding (Scaglia / McClure) 
 
III. Staff Report (Zacharias) 

A. Solo and Small Firm Committee Survey 
Attachment page 60 

B. Lawyer’s Weekly Article 
Attachment page 64 

 
IV. New Business 

A. Subcommittee New Assignments 
Attachment page 67 

 
VI. Adjourn Meeting 
 
 PLEASE MARK YOUR CALENDARS FOR THE NEXT CAFC MEETINGS: 
 

December 4, 2009 
March 5, 2010 

Page 2 of 67



COMMITTEE ON ACCESS TO FAMILY COURTS 
 

MINUTES 
June 5, 2009 

 
Members Present: Judge Dennis Smith, Lori Levine, Judge Leslie Schneider, Judge J.D. 

Williamson, Judge Bennett Burkemper, Judge Brent Powell, Lou DeFeo, 
Karen Brown, Allen Stewart, Richard Halliburton, Beth Dessem, Deanna 
Scott 

 
Members Present 
By Phone: Fredrich J. Cruse, Patricia Scaglia   

 
OSCA Staff:  Cathy Zacharias, Kelly Cramer, Terri Norris, Debbie Eiken 

 
Missouri Bar Staff: Robert Stoeckl 

 
Members Absent: Judge Miles Sweeney, Kathleen Bird, Richard Holtmeyer, Kelly Martinez, 

Mary Ann McClure 
 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

The Committee on Access to Family Courts was called to order by Lori Levine at 10:05 a.m. at 
the Office of State Courts Administrator (OSCA), 121 Alameda Drive, Jefferson City, Missouri. 

 
Lou DeFeo moved to amend the minutes from the April 10, 2009, meeting with revisions. Lou 
moved to approve the minutes as amended. J.D. Williamson seconded the motion. The minutes 
were approved. 
 
Judge W. Brent Powell, 16th Judicial Circuit, was introduced as the newest member of the 
committee.  
 
II. Status Updates 

 
A. Alliances with State/Local Bar Associations/Pro Bono Initiatives 

 
Lori Levine informed the committee that Sue Talia, the “mother” of LSR will be speaking at the 
Kansas Bar Association’s yearly meeting on June 18, 2009. Some members of the committee 
should plan to attend her presentation.   
 
I. Pro Bono Match-Making Proposal 
 
Lou DeFeo stated 50,000 households a year fall into the category of low income people that are 
not being represented under the present system. The program is to fill the gaps, not to duplicate 
existing programs. Two databases are being considered—one for attorneys who volunteer and 

Page 3 of 67Page 3 of 67



one as a resource for pro bono attorneys. The committee would like to add the lists to the 
Missouri Bar Web site.  Lou would like suggestions from the committee about additional data 
that should be completed or added to the databases. 
 
Deanna Scott suggested attorneys be able to sign up via the Web and indicate in which county 
they practice. She questioned if there was a means to monitor what cases attorneys already have 
accepted, to ensure there are no excessive assignments to an attorney and to keep track of how 
many cases an attorney has taken. Lou stated this is a reason to have an attorney monitor the 
database. Lou agreed it would be beneficial to keep track of the number of cases attorneys accept 
and probably can be accomplished. 
 
There was some discussion regarding benefits for attorneys if they would do pro bono work, 
such as free CLEs. Lou stated the issue is not giving credit, but the accounting system. A 
common question from attorneys is “The client did pay, so do I get pro bono for this?” Lori 
agrees the legal service agencies should be involved to offer their assistance and expertise. 
 
Richard Halliburton has questions regarding how the database works, whether or not a statewide 
pro bono system is feasible, and what happens if it doesn’t work the way proposed.  These are all 
issues that must be considered. 
 
Lou stated the Mid-Missouri Access to Justice Project kicked off May 4, 2009. Thirty-three 
attorneys have volunteered for pro bono work and $50,000 in grants has been received.  
 
Deanna Scott reported she is chair of a subcommittee appointed for the Legal Services section. 
Their first phone conference will be June 9, 2009. She stated there are some areas of the law that 
legal services does not handle such as federal, class action, workers compensation, and criminal 
cases. She would like to know how to promote the pro bono program. 
 
A networking system similar to Facebook called MoBar Circle is being launched for attorney use 
only. It will work with several agencies such as community action agencies and senior services 
agencies. Deanna believes there are a lot of ways to work together but we should avoid 
duplicating the services provided. Lou asked if Legal Services could be the gateway to providing 
appropriate services. 
 
The committee asked Bob Stoeckl to be involved with developing and implementing the match-
making proposal. The proposal has to be brought to the Board of Governors. J.D. Williamson 
stated the Missouri Bar has been supportive all along. Bob stated Keith Birkes is very interested 
in the pro bono program. 
 
B. Forms 
 
Patricia Scaglia spoke with Judge Garrett Crouch concerning military personnel and the absence 
of space to deal with property. He is concerned about utilizing the forms when retirement and 
property is at issue.  
 

 2
Page 4 of 67Page 4 of 67



Dennis Smith agreed litigants make mistakes on the property form. He suggested making a 
change to the form would help them understand what needs to be filled in. Judge Leslie 
Schneider stated she doesn’t see a problem with this issue in her court. 
 
Legislative changes were discussed and the passage of House Bill 481 requiring a truncated 
social security number on the dissolution pleadings and judgment. The dissolution of marriage 
forms will be modified to show only the last four digits of the litigant’s social security number.  
When filling out the interactive forms the social security number will be filled in automatically 
on all forms in the correct manner. Dennis has already modified some of the dissolution of 
marriage forms as required by House Bill 481. House Bill 481 requires a confidential 
information sheet, which requires the complete social security number. 
 
HB 481 also requires the employer information be included on the confidential information sheet 
instead of the pleading. Cathy Zacharias stated the Missouri Bar was very insistent on the 
deletion of employment information in the pleadings. There was some discussion concerning 
filling out the forms regarding the child’s age and the birth date. Also discussed was new the 
requirement that all addresses for the last five years be included when there are minor children.   
 
There was a question regarding if the child is the party on the petition shouldn’t his/her social 
security number be included. Dennis stated the Family Court Committee (FCC) discussed the 
modification forms and made recommendations for language change on the motion to modify 
custody forms. He will review their recommendations. 

 
C. Self-Help Centers 
  
Leslie Schneider reported the Mid-Missouri Access to Justice Project received funding from the 
FCC in the amount of $25,000.00. Terri Norris will work with project staff to develop an 
evaluation component as required by the FCC, which is especially necessary to apply for a 
second year of funding. Ben Burkemper suggested they talk about the goals at the Mid- Missouri 
Access to Justice meeting June 19, 2009. 

 
D. Litigant Education 
 
1. Brochure for Clerk’s Offices 
 
Terri Norris stated the brochure is finalized and the Missouri Bar will print 5,000 copies. Court 
clerks can reproduce copies if needed. The brochure is available on the Web site. The brochure 
also is being translated into Spanish and will be available from the Web site. 
 
2. DVD 
 
The committee discussed the lack of diversity on the DVD. Karen Brown stated the DVD came 
in on budget. Karen has contacted the Hispanic Bar for assistance with a Spanish voiceover. 
 
The committee discussed distributing one or two copies to each county. Counties can make 
additional copies if needed. Cathy suggested a letter from Lori accompany the DVD. Karen 

 3
Page 5 of 67Page 5 of 67



stated the grant did include the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education making 
copies of the DVD. A suggestion was made to place the DVD on YouTube making it available to 
a larger audience. 

 
E.  Judicial Education 
 
J.D. Williamson stated the Judicial Education Division at OSCA is undergoing a leadership 
change. He will meet with Judge Norton, the new chairman of Judicial Education committee, this 
month to talk about a possible liaison from this committee. 
 
He stated the curriculum is set for the Judicial College. He stated he would send Judge Norton an 
email regarding using the DVD at the college. It was decided that Dennis would have more time 
to present the DVD during his presentation.  
 
J. D. Williamson moved that Lori Levine discuss the issue of an active judge as liaison from our 
committee to the Judicial Education Committee. Brent Powell volunteered to be the liaison. Lori 
stated she would speak with Judge Russell regarding this proposal. 
 
F.  Web Site 
 
The committee discussed the layout of the Web site, specifically how easy it is to access the 
certificate and the forms. Bob Stoeckl suggested a test be given before access to the certificate. 
Karen Brown stated Kathleen Bird had put some questions together to make sure they did go 
through the process before they got to the certificate. 
 
1. Survey Results 

 
Survey data indicates 79% of responders made $20,000.00 or less annually and 50% are married 
less than five years. 
 
Terri stated there were more responses to the survey in September 2008 than in April 2009. 
She’s in favor of stopping the survey by the end of this fiscal year, that we do not need to 
continue collecting the same demographic information. It was suggested that the survey 
information be changed. Bob Stoeckl suggested another option might be to conduct random 
surveys about the litigant awareness program. 

 
2. Comments Received 
 
Terri stated comments from the survey indicate people are going straight to the forms page. It 
was suggested to put more language in the forms such as “before you file you must complete a 
litigant awareness program.” The consensus is there needs to be direction to go through the 
Litigant Awareness Program before filling out the forms. 
 
Another comment from the survey indicated a technical issue with the forms; items that cannot 
be changed once selected unless the user closes out of the forms package completely. Dennis 
stated the only thing that cannot be changed once selected is gender.  

 4
Page 6 of 67Page 6 of 67



 
3. Changes to the Google Search 
 
Terri Norris informed the committee that we are now the first listing of a Google search of 
“Missouri divorce forms.” 
 
G.  Court Staff/Clerk Education 
 
Nothing to report at this time. 
 
H.  Communications 
 
Fred Cruse noted some issues have arisen concerning prisoners seeking a divorce. 
 
I.  Funding 
 
Patricia Scaglia stated she has nothing to report, but they do need to do some examination of 
funding. 
 
J. Vacancy Recommendations 
 
The committee discussed possible candidates for committee vacancies. Cathy will give Lori a list 
of names. Lori suggested a clerk to fill one of the positions.   
 
Lori stated the court asked for the term limits of the members. It was stated that this is normally 
done with the initial order. Lori will work on structuring the term limits for members. 
 
III.  Staff Report 
 
A. Forms Distribution – Department of Corrections (DOC) 
 
Terri Norris spoke with the DOC about their problems with downloading the forms. Dennis 
Smith indicated he would contact Sandie Cope at DOC about the issue. 
 
Cathy Zacharias discussed using the Polycom videoconferencing system. Cathy asked if there 
was a way to find out what facilities have the Polycom system. Dennis believes the prison at 
Vandalia would benefit from Polycom videoconferencing. 
 
Cathy stated she and Terri continue to research additional forms applications.  
 
B. Technical Issues at OSCA 
 
Cathy state there have been no help desk requests regarding the forms. 
 
IV. New Business 
 

 5
Page 7 of 67Page 7 of 67



 6

A. New Litigant Awareness for Paternity, Name Change & Family Access 
 
New information will be distributed for review in the near future. 
 
B. New Survey Questions 
 
Kelly Martinez, Bob Stoeckl, and Terri Norris continue to work on revising the Web site survey 
tool. 
 
C. Requests for Legal Separation Information/Form 
 
The committee discussed the Legal Separation form and the fact that most litigants do not 
understand legal separation. Once the litigant understands there is really no difference between a 
legal separation and a divorce, they request the divorce. The consensus is that the parties should 
consult with an attorney. 
 
D. Ft. Leonard Wood Request 
 
The committee discussed a request for scripts for pro se litigant use in the courtroom. The 
committee agreed they will not draft or provide any scripts. The committee consensus was that 
military personnel, because of benefits that are so different from non-military benefits, should 
seek the advice of an attorney. 
 
F.  Meeting Dates 
 
The committee agreed on the following meeting dates: August 28, 2009; December 4, 2009; 
March 5, 2010; June 4, 2010; August 27, 2010; and December 3, 2010. 
 
V. Adjourn Meeting 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:10 p.m. 
 

Page 8 of 67Page 8 of 67



Family Court Committee
2112 INDUSTRIAL DRIVE

P. O. BOX 104480
JEFFERSON CITY, MISSOURI

65110

PHONE (573) 751-4377
FAX (573) 522-6086

June 25, 2009

Honorable Jimmie M. Edwards

Judge, 22nd Judicial Circuit
Family Court - Juvenile Division
920 North Vandeventer

St. Louis, MO. 63108

Dear Judge Edwards:

I am writing to advise you that, per the request of the State Judicial Records Committee
(SJRC), the Family Court Committee has reviewed the Motion to Modify forms for use in
domestic matters by self-represented litigants that were submitted by the Committee on Access
Family Courts (CAFC). Following is a summary of the Family Court Committee's actions on
this request along with comments and recommendations for the SJRC's consideration:

Action

At the request of the State Judicial Records Committee, the Family Court Committee
established a subcommittee, chaired by Judge Ben Burkemper, to review the Motion to Modify
forms approved by the Committee on Access to Family Courts at its April 2009 meeting. This
subcommittee convened via telephone conference call to review the forms and drafted a
summary of comments. This summary was forwarded to the entire Family Court Committee and
was discussed at their May 15, 2009 meeting. Judge Dennis Smith, CAFC co-chair attended this
meeting to address the issues raised in the summary of comments. Subsequently, the
subcommittee convened a second time via telephone conference call on June 2, 2009 to review
the comments in conjunction with information provided by Judge Smith and prepare a proposed
response. The Family Court Committee, via electronic vote, has approved that the following
comments and recommendations be submitted to the SJRC for consideration.

Comments regarding all forms
All forms under review include to various degrees identifying information. This may be a

Social Security Number, date of birth, financial account information, etc. Missouri law at this
time requires the information to be included in the pleadings and judgments. New legislation,
HB 481 which has not yet been signed by the Governor, requires only the disclosure of partial

Committee Members'

Mary Sheffield. Chair
Cary Augustine
T. Bennett Burkemper Jr.
p"trick Campbell

Mary K Hoff
Jerry Holcomb
Darrell Missey

David Mobley
Steven Ohmer
Martina L. Peterson

Thea Sherry
Elizabeth Swann

Robin Vannoy Page 9 of 67Page 9 of 67



Hon. Jimmie Edwards

June 25, 2009
Page 2

infonnation (such as the last four digits of a SSN or account number) within the pleadings and
judgments.

Motions to ModifY Child Custody and SUTJport (CAFC 101 and 102)

Question #11 for both forms: Include additional infonnation about the county in which the
previous judgment being modified was filed to ensure correct venue and jurisdiction.

Judge Smith explained this question is asked at the top/beginning of each respective
fonn.

y The Committee recommends no further action on this point.

CAFC 101 - Custody form

Question #9 - Service Infonnation. The checkbox for service by publication raises some
important issues in detennining the jurisdiction to hear the case and whereabouts of the child of
the order in some instances.

Judge Smith explained that the judge who presides over the pro se cases will have to
carefully review the document and pay attention to this question.

y The Committee recommends no further action on this point.

Question #19, needs clarification.
y Recommend adding checkboxes or instructions to distinguish between a request for a change

in custody based on a change in circumstances and a change in visitation based on the best
interests of the child. See and compare to Modification Judgment fonn, CAFC 170,
questions #7 & #8.

y Recommend some accommodation for the issue of parenting time.

Question #25.
y Recommend adding an explanation section. This would help detennine if allegations and

findings of abuse exist and if a GAL is required.
Judge Smith thought it possible to move this question up in order, thus, allowing for an
explanation or further details if needed.

y Recommend adding a checkbox asking if the parent paying child support has arrearages of
$10,000 or more.

Judge Smith thought this could be more applicable on the response pleadings.
The Committee's position is that this is a jurisdictional issue and further inquiry such as "Do
you owe child support to the responding party, if so how much?" would be beneficial.

CAFC 102 - SUTJTJortform

Question #14.
~ Recommend removing the note below this question: A court has the authority to modify an

administrative order originally entered by the Missouri Family Support Division once it has
been filed with the court.

Judge Smith explained that the Hays case prevented such a modification, Hays v Haves,
30 S.W.3d 845 (E.D.App. 2000).

Commillee Members:

Mary Sheffield. Chair
Cary Augustine
T. Bennett Burkemper Jr.

Patrick Campbell

Mary K Hoff
Jerry Holcomb
Darrell Missey

David Mobley
Steven Ohmer
Martina L. Peterson

Thea Sherry
Elizabeth Swann

Robin Vannoy Page 10 of 67Page 10 of 67



Hon. Jimmie Edwards

June 25, 2009
Page 3

However, the Committee notes that there is a disagreement between jurisdictions as to the
court's ability to modifY an administrative support order. See D.M.K. v Mueller, 152 S.W.3d
922 (S.D.App. 2005).

Question #20 - Proposed Parenting Plan. Should this question reference the Fonn 14 instead of
the parenting plan?

Judge Smith stated that Part B of the parenting plan discussed other items not included on
the Fonn 14.

~ The Committee believes it will be confusing to a pro se litigant to include a parenting plan in
a child support case and recommends including only the Fonn 14.

~ Recommend adding a checkbox asking if either party has additional children that were born
after the dissolution or legal separation.

Judge Smith said this issue is already included in the approved Fonn 14 from the
dissolution of marriage packet.

~ Recommend this issue be further examined if it is not otherwise addressed in the Fonn 14.

Answers to Motions to Modify Child Custody and Support (CAFC 111 and 112)
Question #8 - Important Infonnation, presupposes that the party has already been served.
~ Recommend adding a caveat at the beginning of this statement similar to "I understand if I

have not previously been served process in this action ... "

Question #9 - Agree or Disagree with the Motion.
~ Recommend adding a second option that denies all the allegations except those specified

herein.

Property and Debt Statements (CAFC 140 and 240)
"Property Owned by You" chart.
~ Recommend adding an explanation or definition as to what would be considered property to

be listed in this section.

Income and Expense Statements (CAFC 150 and 250)
"For Use in Motions to Modify" title
~ Recommend changing the title to "Use in calculating child support" or "Use in calculating

the Fonn No. 14. (Some jurisdictions require a local fonn).

Question #3 - Monthly Income Infonnation, Imputed Monthly Income. This is a judicial
detennination and is not made by the parties. A clarification or interactive message may be
beneficial regarding this topic.

Judge Smith agreed with the subcommittee that any amount included in this box would only
be a suggestion and imputed income would have to be detennined by the judge.

~ Recommend a clarification or interactive message to reinforce that the judge will detennine if
and how much imputed income would be included in this box.

Commit1ee Members'

Mary Sheffield, Chair
Cary Augustine
T. Bennen Burkemper Jr.
"_-': ••1, r.unnhPli

Mary K Hoff
Jerry Holcomb
Darrell Missey

David Mobley
Steven Ohmer
Martina L. Peterson

Thea Sherry
Elizabeth Swann

Robin Vannoy
Page 11 of 67Page 11 of 67



Hon. Jimmie Edwards
June 25, 2009
Page 4

Modification Judgment (CAFC 170 and 270)
>- Recommend adding the state-wide approved language regarding Commissioners; current

language is not sufficient.

Petition for Child Custodv (CAFC 201)
Question #9 - Service Information. The check box for service by publication raises some
important issues in determining the jurisdiction to hear the case and whereabouts of the child of
the order in some instances.

Judge Smith explained that the judge who presides over the pro se cases will have to
carefully review the document and pay attention to this question.

>- The Committee recommends no further action on this point.

Question #21- Proposed Parenting Plan
>- Recommend adding an explanation section. This would help determine if allegations and

findings of abuse exist and if a GAL is required.
Judge Smith thought it possible to move this question up in order, thus, allowing for an
explanation or further details if needed

Thank you for providing the Family Court Committee the opportunity to review and
comment on the proposed forms. Please let me know if we can be any further assistance to your
Committee.

Sincerely,

Mt~ld
Chairperson

cc: Hon. Dennis Smith, CAFC
Lori Levine, CAFC
Family Court Committee
Cathy Zacharias
Norma Rahm

Comminee Member>:

Mary Sheffield, Chair
Cary Augustine
T. Bennen Burkemper Jr.
Patrick Campbell

Mary K Hoff

Jerry Holcomb
Darrell Missey

David Mobley
Steven Ohmer
Martina L. Peterson

Thea Sherry
Elizabeth Swann

Robin Vannoy
Page 12 of 67Page 12 of 67



Page 13 of 67Page 13 of 67



"Cope, Sandie" 
<Sandie.Cope@oa.mo.gov> 

07/20/2009 09:47 AM

To "Norris, Terri" <terri.norris@courts.mo.gov>

cc

bcc

Subject FW: Pro Se Forms

History: This message has been forwarded.

Terri, thought I would share this email chain with you.  We are working on a 
method to make this form available on line for the offenders but it will take 
some program changes & $$.

Sandie Cope
ITSD/DOC
573-522-4649

-----Original Message-----
From: Kueffer, Rodney
Sent: Monday, July 20, 2009 8:50 AM
To: Lenger, Lenard; Cope, Sandie; Bresnahan, Kimberly
Subject: RE: Pro Se Forms

They do not have Acrobat available today but the enhancement will include 
this.  I will get a cost estimate via state-wide contract and get back with 
you.  Thanks!

-----Original Message-----
From: Lenger, Lenard
Sent: Monday, July 20, 2009 8:46 AM
To: Kueffer, Rodney
Subject: RE: Pro Se Forms

Rodney, I concur the expense to make these forms available electronically is 
within statutory language.  Do the kiosks have Adobe Acrobat on them so these 
forms can be completed "on-line"?   I approve using Canteen Funds to further 
this project.  Let me know what the cost is to do this.  Thanks.

-----Original Message-----
From: Kueffer, Rodney
Sent: Monday, July 20, 2009 7:12 AM
To: Lenger, Lenard
Subject: FW: Pro Se Forms

Lenny, attached are 2 documents that have been forwarded to me by Sandie Cope 
on behalf of Kimberly Bresnahan, Central Office Library Coordinator.  Kimberly 
would like to see these forms placed on our kiosk and available to the 
offenders to view and complete.  These completed forms would be forwarded to 
the courts for legal proceedings.

Currently, the library hands these forms out to the offenders, as part of our 
law library services, who then complete them.  The courts are complaining that 
many are not completed correctly or they are unable to read the offender's 
handwriting.  This form allows the offender to fill response areas, gives 
automated instructions, and performs edits to ensure accurate completion of 
the form.  Additionally, the courts would like to provide us with additional 
forms for this process as they become available.

I am asking approval from you to utilize monies from the Central Canteen Fund 

Page 14 of 67Page 14 of 67



to proceed with this request.  As it is part of our law library services I
feel confident that we are within statute, much like the annual expense that 
we have for the Lexis Nexus service that we pay for out of the same fund.

Thank you for your consideration, if you have any questions or need any 
further information, please contact me.

Rodney

Page 15 of 67Page 15 of 67



Litigant Education (Recommendations #1 & #5) (Bird) 
 
The DVD has been completed with Spanish version. DESE will be sending us a copy for 
approval. Once approved, it is ready to be placed as streaming video on the Web site 
(coordinate with Office of Administration server and DESE). 
 
Jim has requested additional compensation (Karen Brown will report). Jim has referred us to 
DESE to do the graphics for the DVD (which he contracted to do).  Titles are needed to 
make DVD copies. We do not have money allocated to make or distribute copies. We 
should explore the possibility of giving local circuits the right to download the program from 
the Web site to make their own copies. Our JIS department has software that makes that 
possible. Don't know the feasibility of other circuits. 
 

Page 16 of 67Page 16 of 67



The Documentary Group, JK 7/29/08 
 

Litigant Awareness Program Video Estimate 
 
PRODUCER / FIELD PRODUCTION / OFF-LINE EDIT 
 
The Documentary Group 
 
Script Coordination      20 hrs @ $50 per hour  $1000.00 
 
Producer Hours, Pre- Production    20 hrs @ $50 per hour   1000.00 
 
Field Producer      30 hrs @ $50 per hour              $1500.00 
 
 
Off Line Edit      30 hrs @ $50 per hour   1500.00 
 
 
Post Production     20 hrs @ $50 per hour   1000.00 

 
 
Post Project Coordination    10 hrs @ $50 per hour     500.00 
 
Travel Expense      300 miles @ .36 per mile     108.00 
 
Producer / Off-line Total subtotal                      $6608.00 
 

 
PRODUCTION SERVICES 
 
DESE Telecommunications Services 
 
Field Production     30 Hours @ $80 per hour $2400.00 
                            
Videotape / expendables    20 Beta sp – 30m  

@ $8.75 per     175.00 
 
Post Production     20 Hours @ $80 per hour  1600.00 
           
 
 
             
 

Page 17 of 67Page 17 of 67



Music – Stock              100.00 
 
Closed Captioning     2 hours @ $80 per hour    160.00 
 
Web Streaming     1 hour @ $80 per hour      80.00 
 
Translation Audio      2 hours @ $80 per hour    160.00 
 
 
Production Services Subtotal    $4675.00 
 
TALENT / MISELLANIOUS 
 
Primary On-screen Talent    20 Hours @ $30 per hour  $600.00 
 
Translation VO Talent    5 hours @ $25 per hour    125.00 
 
Translation Services     20 hours @ $25 per hour    500.00 
 
Duplication / Authoring     To be determined by dub order, less than 

$1.50 per dub w/ packaging 
 
Talent Subtotal      $1225.00 
 
 
 
Project Total                 $12,508.00 
 
 

Page 18 of 67Page 18 of 67



 

 

 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI 
OFFICE OF STATE COURTS ADMINISTRATOR 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

 
 
    
 
RFP NO. OSCA 09-001  CONTACT: Herb Conner 
TITLE: Domestic Relations Programs for Parents and Children  PHONE NO.: (573) 522-2617 
ISSUE DATE: January 8, 2008  E-MAIL: herb.conner@courts.mo.gov 
 
 
RETURN PROPOSAL NO LATER THAN: February 22, 2008, AT 5:00 PM 

 
 

RETURN PROPOSAL TO: OFFICE OF STATE COURTS ADMINISTRATOR 
     Attn: Herb Conner 

2112 INDUSTRIAL DRIVE 
     PO BOX 104480 
     JEFFERSON CITY MO 65110 
     FAX: (573) 522-6937 
 
 
CONTRACT PERIOD:  July 1, 2008 THROUGH June 30, 2009 
 

SIGNATURE REQUIRED 
 
Authorized Signature 
 
 

Date 2/21/2008 

Printed Name 
 
Gary Waint 

Title 
Interim State Court 
Administrator 

Agency Name 
                     Missouri Supreme Court - Joint Pro Se Implementation Commission 
                                          
 
Mailing Address 
     Missouri Supreme Court Building 
     P.O. Box 150 
 
City, State, Zip 
    Jefferson City, MO  65102 
Contact Person 
 
Gary Waint 

Title 
 

Phone Number 
573-751-3585 

Fax No.  
573-751-5540 

Email Address 
Gary.waint@courts.mo.gov 

 
 

 
NOTICE OF AWARD (STATE USE ONLY) 

 

Page 19 of 67Page 19 of 67



OSCA RFP 09-001  
(Domestic Relations Programs For Parents and Children) 

2

ACCEPTED BY OFFICE OF STATE COURTS ADMINISTRATOR AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
 
CONTRACT NO. CONTRACT PERIOD 

OSCA CONTACT COORDINATOR 
 

DATE Director  OSCA Juvenile and Adult Court Programs 

1. GRANT APPLICATION FOR FY08 
 
 

Litigant Awareness Program for  
Self-Represented Litigants in Family Law Cases 

 

Statewide 
 
 
 
Need for the Program: 
 
On December 21, 2007 the Missouri Supreme Court adopted Rule 88.09 (effective July 1, 2008).  
 

88.09 PARTIES NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL 

Every party not represented by counsel who participates in a proceeding for dissolution 
of marriage, legal separation, parentage or the modification of a judgment in any such 
proceeding shall: (a) Complete a litigant awareness program that includes an 
explanation of the risks and responsibilities of self-representation, unless waived by the 
circuit court.  The awareness program shall be prepared by a committee designated by 
this Court, but each circuit may determine the manner and means by which the training 
shall be provided and the proof of compliance 

 
In accordance with the mandate, the Joint Pro Se Implementation Commission developed a model 
curriculum as a conceptual framework to implement statewide pro se education designed to raise 
awareness about the complexity of self representation in family law cases.  While the core curriculum 
is currently available as online training on the commission website (www.selfrepresent.mo.gov), the 
manner by which courts may provide this instruction will vary considerably depending on available 
resources.  
 
 To ensure compliance with the rule, a practical means of implementing and maintaining the training 
is needed.  The Commission has determined that presentation of the program in DVD format will 
provide the most cost effective means of reaching a broad spectrum of self represented litigants with 
access to the awareness program.  Additionally, a DVD format can serve as a complement to live 
class presentation and ensure that basic and critical instructional content is provided uniformly 
without regard to class locale.  

 
Number of People to be served 
 
There are no exact figures on the number of litigants in family law cases who represent themselves in 
Missouri.  A survey undertaken by the Missouri Supreme Court Commission to Review Pro Se 
Litigation indicated that 80 percent of Missouri Circuit Clerks deal with pro se litigants in family law 

Page 20 of 67Page 20 of 67



OSCA RFP 09-001  
(Domestic Relations Programs For Parents and Children) 

3

cases regularly.  Sixty-eight percent of Circuit Clerks surveyed indicated that the number of pro se 
litigants is increasing either moderately or greatly.   (See Report to the Supreme Court and The 
Missouri Bar issued in September 2003 available in the Commission archives at 
www.courts.mo.gov/page.asp?id=5280).  While there is some variation between urban and rural 
circuits in the level of pro se activity, it is estimated that the Litigant Awareness Program DVD will 
easily be utilized by more than 300 family law self represented litigants during the FY09 fiscal cycle.  
(Assuming a maximum allowable cost of $35 per person).  
 
Implementation Plan: 
 
July & August 2008:  Enter agreement for production of DVD 
    Video program 
    Post Production 

     
September 2008:  Commence distribution of DVD to local Circuits  

 
 

Project Goals and Objectives: 
 
Goal: To produce a litigant awareness program in the DVD format that complies with Rule 
88.09. 
 
 Measurable outcomes:   

1. A master of the video program will be produced that can be replicated on DVD for 
distribution. 

2. Circulate a copy of the Litigant Awareness Program on DVD to each Circuit Court / Family 
Court in the state of Missouri. 

3. Distribute copies of the Litigant Awareness Program in DVD format to at least 300 parents 
in family law cases who are representing themselves in order to comply with the 
requirements of Rule 88.09 (effective July 1, 2008).  

   
 

Funds requested:  $ 10,000.00  
 
(See estimate received from the Missouri Department of Secondary and Elementary Education for the 
production of a video program in DVD format). 
 
 
Ability of Circuit to sustain the program at the end of the twelve month funding 
period: 
 
 
Production of a Master DVD will allow the Commission to engage in replication of additional copies in 
the future at minimal cost.  It is anticipated that users will pay a small fee to obtain a copy of the DVD 
to cover cost of replication, handling charges and mailing. 

Page 21 of 67Page 21 of 67

http://www.courts.mo.gov/page.asp?id=5280


OSCA RFP 09-001  
(Domestic Relations Programs For Parents and Children) 

4

BUDGET CATEGORIES  AMOUNT REQUESTED 
FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT 
      
         
 

 
$             -0- 

RESOURCE MATERIALS FOR PARTICIPANTS AND 
PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT 
 
              

 
$              -0- 

CONSTRUCTION 
      
 

 
$               -0-   

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 
      
        See attached estimate for MO DESE                               
 

 
 
$      9,550.00  

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AND SUPPLIES 
 
       DVD postal packaging and postage for 300 copies 

 
 
$        450.00 
 

TRAINING 
      

 
$           -0- 
 

 
TOTAL AMOUNT OF FUNDS REQUESTED 

 
$     10,000.00 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 67Page 22 of 67



OSCA RFP 09-001  
(Domestic Relations Programs For Parents and Children) 

5

 
Estimate provided by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 

 
DVDs of the Litigant Awareness Program 

 
Using the PPT slides and the online content as a basis for the information that is to be included in the 
script, it is suggested that the narrative be delivered by an on-camera host. The itemized lists (on the 
slides) can be shown graphically and several scenes can feature the narrator’s voice over actual 
footage from these locations.  This multifaceted presentation method works well to maintain audience 
interest in a topic with this breadth of information. 
 
Telecommunication Services always charges for actual time and materials used in the completion of 
a project whether more or less than any estimates provided. 
 
On-Camera Narrator at Several Locations 
Field Production 40 hours @ $80 per hour $3,200 
Professional Narrator 20 hours @$50 per hour $1,000 
Videotape 20 Beta cam SP 30 min 

tapes @ $8.75 each 
$175 
 
 

Editing 60 hours @ $80 per hour $4,800 
Closed Captioning 2 hours @ $80 per hour $160 
Web Streaming 1 hour @ $80 per hour $80 
DVD Duplication 100 DVDs @ $1.35 each $135 
Total  $9,550 
 
 
 

Page 23 of 67Page 23 of 67



We recommend that the written "self-assessment tool" and "sample completion survey" 
be sent to circuits on CD or by email. The self assessment is needed for litigants who do 
not have access to the Web site. The completion survey is a suggestion for circuits that 
want some type of verification that the person actually viewed the materials. 
 
 

Page 24 of 67Page 24 of 67



LITIGANT AWARENESS PROGRAM        DVD Supplement 
 
Self Representation Assessment Tool  
 
This assessment tool covers issues that may help you decide if representing yourself is advisable. You will get the most accurate assessment if 
you answer each of the following questions as truthfully as possible. At the end of the assessment exercise you can read comments based on 
your answer to each question. 
 
 
Instruction: Check the Yes or No box at right for each of the following questions. 
 

Yes No 
1. .Are you generally on time for meetings and able to meet deadlines?  

 
  

2  .Can you make it to the courthouse during the day? 
 

  

3.  Do you fill out and file your own tax returns?  
 

  

4.  Do you solve problems by doing your own research? 
 

  

5.. Are you comfortable speaking in front of others?  
 

  

6. Do you handle stress well?  
 

  

7. Can you follow rules even if you believe they are unfair?  
 

  

8. Can you make decisions and stick to them?  
 

  

9. Is your case a no-asset case (does not involve a home, pension, other property important to you)? 
  

  

10.  Are you without children or only have children over the  age of 21?  
 

  

11. Have you ever been to a trial?  
 

  

12. Do you read self help books?  
 

  

Page 25 of 67Page 25 of 67



 
 Yes No 
13. Can you listen carefully while others talk?  
 

  

14. Do you ask questions when you are confused by something? 
  

  

15. Do you normally dress neatly for important occasions?  
 

  

16. Do you usually keep all your important documents? 
  

  

17. Do you read instructions carefully?  
 

  

18. Have you given careful thought to what you want to accomplish by asking the court to resolve 
your dispute?  

  

 
Enter total number of “Yes” & ” No”  responses here:

  

 
 
Scoring:  
 
This scoring system is not scientifically based. It is a gauge for someone assessing whether they have the basic skills 
necessary to effectively represent themselves in a family law matter in a Missouri circuit court. The scoring is a 
generalization about the qualifications that may be needed.   
 
15  to 18 questions answered YES.  This range suggests that you may possess many of the habits, skills and attitudes 
that make it possible for you to represent yourself in court.  Bear in mind that the complexity of the legal issues is not 
addressed by this assessment tool (see note below). 
 
8 to 14 questions answered YES. This range suggests that you have developed some of the habits, skills and attitudes 
that make it possible for you to represent yourself in court but that there are other qualities that are needed to increase the 
likelihood that you can do so effectively.  It will be difficult to handle your case without the assistance, knowledge and 
skills a lawyer can provide.  You should consider hiring a lawyer to handle your case, or to coach you or provide limited 
assistance (Lawyers may contract with clients to provide limited representation in the state of Missouri). Bear in mind that 
the complexity of the legal issues is not addressed by this assessment tool (see note below). 

Page 26 of 67Page 26 of 67



 
7 or less questions answered YES. This range suggests that you have not developed  many of the habits and attitudes 
that are generally required to be effective representing yourself in your case.  You should strongly consider hiring a 
lawyer. Bear in mind that the complexity of the legal issues is not addressed by this assessment tool (see note below). 
 
NOTE:  Regardless of the number of questions you answer YES, you should give careful consideration to hiring a 
lawyer if children or property issues are involved in your case.  Your rights and those of your children will be 
affected by the outcome of your case with the potential for serious adverse consequences.   
 
If you are looking for a lawyer, consult your phone directory or the Missouri Lawyer Referral Service. 
If you are looking for low-income legal assistance, consult your local bar association or local legal services office. 
Contact information is provided in the brochure “Handling Your Case in Family Court” available from the Circuit Clerk or at 
www.selfrepresent.mo.gov 
 
Comments on the Responses 
 
1.  Are you generally on time for meetings and deadlines? 
 
YES - -This is a good trait to have. The court expects people to be on time for hearings and to file any paperwork in compliance with 
deadlines set by the judge.  
 
NO - The court runs on a tight schedule. The judge will expect you to be present in court when called and to file forms on time. If you are not 
a good time manager in your daily life, a lawyer might be able to do a better job of keeping track of deadlines for you. 
 
2. Can you make it to the courthouse during the day?  

 
YES - This is an advantage for you. A flexible schedule will allow you to come to court when you have to file paperwork and attend hearings.  
 
NO - If you cannot make it to the court during the business day, you will be at a disadvantage attending hearings and filing paperwork. A 
lawyer can handle many of these tasks for you. 
  
3. Do you fill out and file your own tax returns?  
 
YES - Filling out tax forms provides you with valuable experience. Court forms, like tax forms, are complicated. Your experience may make 
the court forms easier for you to master.  
 

Page 27 of 67Page 27 of 67



NO -If you have never filled out tax forms because they seem too complicated, you are likely to find the court forms complicated too. Both tax 
and court forms may take a lot of time to complete. A lawyer can help you fill out complicated documents and sorting out important 
information.  
 
4.  Do you solve problems by doing your own research? 
 
YES - It is good to be comfortable with research. Some research will be needed for you to be effective with your case. You will need to learn 
the rules and laws applicable to your case.  
 
NO -  If you do not like research then representing yourself may not be a good idea. Research is essential for you to be successful in court 
without a lawyer. You should consider hiring a lawyer in order to comply with the rules and laws important to your case. 
 
5. Are you comfortable speaking in front of others?  
 
YES - Speaking in front of people is required to represent yourself in court. You must be able to relax and concentrate in front of others in 
order to state your case and  explain your points.  
 
NO --To represent yourself you must speak clearly and logically in the courtroom. .  If you are not confident about speaking in pubic, 
consider hiring a lawyer who has developed skills to speak effectively in the courtroom  
 
6.  Do you handle stress well?  
 
Yes -You will have an advantage if you handle stress well. Being able to stay in control and conduct yourself in a calm fashion is important 
so you can speak more clearly in court and concentrate so you can complete forms properly. 
 
NO - If you get angry while under stress, you will find it difficult to represent yourself effectively. The litigation process and the courtroom can 
be very stressful. If you become angry it will make the process even more difficult. Having a lawyer will take a great deal of stress off your 
shoulders.  
 
7.  Can you follow rules, even if you believe they are unfair?  
 
YES - It is helpful to respect and abide by rules. Rules are essential to the court process.   Rules help to make things fair generally and 
prevent one party from taking advantage of another party. 
 
NO - Courts have rules that must be followed by everyone, even when you represent yourself.  
If you are frustrated by rules then you may want to get a lawyer to help you understand why rules are in place.  
  

Page 28 of 67Page 28 of 67



 
8. Can you make decisions and stick to them?  
 
YES – It will be necessary to gather information and make the best decision you can at the time and comply with your decisions, even when 
things don’t turn out as you expected.  
 
NO -It can be very hard to change things after filing a form or making a statement. If you worry about your decisions or have a problem 
sticking to decisions then you will have problems handling your case.  Having a lawyer will help you make informed decisions the first time.  
 
9.  Is your case a no-asset case (does not involve a home, pension or other property important to you)? 
 
YES – Every case is important but those involving property or money may have a big impact on your financial well-being. If the potential loss 
is not significant you may feel more confident to represent yourself because the risks are smaller. 
 
NO - When pension rights, valuable property or money are involved, there are consequences for how these matters are handled.  The 
assistance of a lawyer will prevent mistakes that can have a significant impact on your finances or your property.  
 
10. Are you without children or only have children over the  age of 21? 
 
YES  - Children become adults at the age 18 for most purposes, but a parent’s responsibility for financial support may continue until 21 or 
longer if the child is disabled and unable to provide for his or her own needs.  If you have no children or they are no longer entitled to 
financial support, the complex issues involving children are not present.   
 
NO – If you have children under the age of 21, your case will affect your children’s rights and your parental obligations.   When children are 
involved in a legal dispute, the consequences of the outcome are far too important to take chances. It is strongly recommended you seek the 
help of a lawyer to prevent mistakes in the legal process that will affect the future of your children.  
 
11. Have you ever been to a trial?  
 
YES –Attending a trial is very beneficial if you are thinking about representing yourself. Seeing a trial in action will give you an idea about 
court etiquette, how to act in court, the order in which things happen, and what procedures need to be followed.  
 
NO - If you have not been to a trial in Missouri courts, you should think about doing so.  The trials depicted on TV shows do not accurately 
represent what happens in the courtroom. There are written and unwritten rules of courtroom etiquette you need to know.  If you are 
concerned about presenting your own case in the courtroom, a lawyer will make an effective presentation of your case.  
  

Page 29 of 67Page 29 of 67



 
12. Do you read self help books?  
 
YES – You have developed a habit of finding helpful information.  Reading about the court process will give you a basic understanding of 
trial proceedings and courtroom behavior. Reading up on these issues will put increase your ability to represent yourself effectively. 
 
NO -  If you have not developed a habit of seeking out helpful information, you will be at a disadvantage. Procedures are confusing if you do 
not understand them.  You will not be effective if you are not willing to dedicate the time and effort needed to learn about these matters.  
Lawyers have training and experience in performing these tasks well and in a lot less time than it will take for you to learn them.    
 
13. Can you listen carefully while others talk?  
 
YES - This is a vital skill to have in the courtroom. You must listen to what the judge and other parties in your case have to say, and you 
must be able to listen carefully under stress. Many people find it hard to listen to things others say that they don’t agree with. If you are a 
good listener then you can pick up on what they are saying, and any errors that may be made.    
 
NO - If you find it hard to listen to others talk, you will have difficulty in the courtroom.   There is always someone talking in the courtroom. If 
you don't listen then you might miss things that are important to the outcome of your case. Additionally, you will not be allowed to interrupt 
others when they are speaking, even if you disagree with them.  If you find it difficult to listen carefully, you will benefit from having a lawyer 
present to listen carefully in the courtroom and respond appropriately. 
.  
14. Do you ask questions when you are confused by something?  
 
YES – Having the confidence to ask questions is a necessary skill for representing yourself. You will have to ask questions about scheduling 
your case, proper procedures, and other matters.  Speaking up and asking questions will allow you to complete things properly and move 
your case through the process. Be aware, however, that court staff cannot answer questions that involve legal advice. 
 
NO -  If you do not like to ask questions, then representing yourself will be difficult. You will be learning new procedures and will find some of 
this confusing.  Questions are necessary to clarify what is required. Additionally, some questions cannot be answered by the court staff, so 
these limits will be frustrating.  If you do not want to ask questions then you should consider hiring a lawyer.  
 
15. Do you normally dress neatly for important occasions?  
 
YES – The courtroom is a formal setting and proper dress is important.  Dressing neatly is a good idea. The judge and opposing party will 
respect you more when you are properly dressed for court. Neatness will demonstrate you are prepared.  
 
NO -  Appropriate dress is important in the formal setting of the courtroom.  Dressing neatly conveys you are thoughtful and prepared.  It is 
important to be taken seriously. Also, the  judge may not hear your case if your dress is disrespectful to the court. If you find it difficult to 
respect the customs of the courtroom, you should have a lawyer to address the court on your behalf. 
  

Page 30 of 67Page 30 of 67



16. Do you usually keep all of your important documents?  
 
YES - Keeping your paperwork organized is very important.  Orderly files are a  tremendous help in all aspects of a trial. You will probably 
need to locate and refer to  documents while you are in court.  Keeping important papers handy will permit you to recall what has occurred in 
your case.  
 
NO - If you find it difficult to keep and organize your documents, you will be at a disadvantage when you need an important piece of paper. If 
keeping things organized is not your style, then it will be best to get some assistance.  Lawyers know how to handle this aspect of your case. 
 
17.   Do you read instructions carefully?  
 
YES -  If you carefully read directions then you will find it easier to fill out the forms required to properly represent yourself in court. Attention 
to detail is important throughout your case.  
 
NO - Reading and following instructions will be a major part of filling out the forms required in your case. If you are not good at following 
instructions, it will be difficult for you to attend to all the details necessary to properly handle your case. A lawyer has the skills and 
knowledge needed to do this for you. 
  
18.   Have you given careful thought to what you want to accomplish by asking the court to resolve your 
dispute?  
 
YES -  You must decide what you want to ask the court to do for you.  The judge cannot figure this out for you.  The role of the judge is to 
decide if you are entitled to the outcome you are asking for.  It is important to have a clear goal for the outcome of your case.  Additionally, 
there are a limited number of solutions available under the law for resolving disputes. If you have reasonable expectations about likely 
outcomes, you will be more effective in reaching an appropriate goal. .  
 
NO - If you do not have a clear idea about what you want to accomplish in court, or lack a reasonable understanding about what the options 
are under the law, you are likely to be disappointed and frustrated. It is also time consuming and confusing to try to handle your case without 
a plan.   It is advisable to have the assistance of a lawyer who can advise you about what to expect. A lawyer can be extremely helpful  for 
developing goals and strategy to get a good outcome in your case. 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 67Page 31 of 67



LITIGANT AWARENESS PROGRAM SURVEY QUESTIONS 
 
You may be required to answer this survey and submit your answers to the Circuit Clerk in the Circuit where your case is filed in 
order to obtain approval of the certificate of completion for this program.  Take your completed survey and the certificate the Circuit 
Clerk’s office. 
 

Your Answer 
T   or   F 

 
Read each question and write “T” for true or “F” for false in the space to the left of the question. 

T 1.   The court has rules that apply to everyone, whether people are represented by lawyers or represent 
themselves. 

T 2.  A person who decides to represent himself or herself in a family law case in Missouri must use standard 
forms approved by the Missouri Supreme Court (available at www.selfrepresent.mo.gov) 

F 3. The Circuit Clerk and other court staff can answer questions that give legal advice, such as how to phrase 
wording in forms or what to ask the court to order. 

T 4.  A judge must remain impartial while handling family law cases cannot give people advice about how to 
handle their cases. 

T 5.  A person’s rights can be adversely affected when certain information is included or excluded in “pleadings” 
(forms) filed in a family law case. 

T 6.   A family law case cannot proceed until other people entitled to be  notified about the filing of the case have 
been notified as required by law. 

T 7.  The judge may proceed with deciding a family law case when a person who has been notified about the 
filing of the case does not file a written response in the time allowed. 

T 8.  When a family law case involves children, the parents must attend an educational program and submit a 
proposed parenting plan for their children to the court. 

T 9.  The parties involved in a family law case may “settle” (agree) on how issues will be handled and ask the 
judge to approve their agreement. 

F 10.  Verbal and written statements made by people outside of the courtroom are generally accepted as  
evidence in court. 

T 11.  A person representing himself or herself in a family law case is required to prove the case as required by 
law in the same way as people represented by a lawyer. 

T 12.  A person is responsible for following up to do all the things a judgment in a family law case requires the 
person to do, such as sign documents, transfer property or pay money. 

 

Page 32 of 67Page 32 of 67



        APPROVED By:  __________________________________             

          I affirm that I have completed the statewide Litigant Awareness Program required by Rule 88.09 by 
watching the DVD created by the Supreme Court Committee on Access to Family Courts. 

          Case No.  _______________________ 

Certificate of Completion of Statewide Litigant Awareness Program 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COUNTY, MISSOURI 

Respondent Name:   

Petitioner Name:   

Your Signature _________________________________________ 

Your Printed Name:   ____________________________________ 

Date: __________________, 20____ 

                    

             

 

 

 

Page 33 of 67Page 33 of 67



Parentage (Paternity Establishment) 

Paternity means “fatherhood.”  Parentage (link: www.dss.mo.gov/cse/pdf/father0705.pdf) 
is the process of establishing the legal relationship between a child and the parents who 
were not married to each other. A paternity establishment case concerns the recognition 
of the child’s legal parents and establishes each parent’s rights and responsibilities to the 
child. Healthcare insurers usually require this in order to provide coverage for a child 
born to never married parents.  The child may have difficulty applying for other benefits 
provided through a parent until this has been done.  The court can order a residential 
schedule of time with each parent and set financial support for the child.  

Non-court options for establishing parentage. 

The easiest way to establish parentage is for both parents to sign an Affidavit 
Acknowledging Paternity at the hospital when the child is born.  Hospital staff can 
provide this form.  Both parents’ names will appear on the birth certificate. 

After the child leaves the hospital, parents can sign an affidavit by contacting the 
Missouri Bureau of Vital Records (link: 
http://www.dhss.mo.gov/BirthAndDeathRecords/correcting.html) or the Missouri 
Department of Social Services Family Support Division (link:  
http://www.dss.mo.gov/cse/father0705.htm ).  This affidavit can be completed any time 
before the child’s eighteenth birthday. 

When parents don’t agree to establish parentage, either parent can bring an action in court 
to establish parentage any time up to the child’s eighteenth birthday.  A child can bring 
an action to establish parentage between age 18 and age 21. 

A man who is not married to a child’s mother may claim he is the father by filing a 
Notice of Intent to Claim Paternity with the Putative Father Registry of the Missouri 
Bureau of Vital Records (link: www.dhss.mo.gov/BirthAndDeathRecords/putative.html).   

 How does a parent gets rights to custody or visitation? 

The mother and father may agree on custody and parental access (visitation) without 
court involvement.  Mediation is also an option for creating a parenting schedule. 
MARCH (link: www.marchmediation.org) offers free mediation services for this purpose. 
If mother and father do not agree on a parenting schedule, a court must decide these 
issues. 

How is parentage established through the court? 

A parent can seek assistance to establish parentage and child support by applying to the 
Family Support Division of the Missouri Department of Social Services. (link:   
http://www.dss.mo.gov/cse/appforms.htm).   

Page 34 of 67Page 34 of 67

http://www.dss.mo.gov/cse/pdf/father0705.pdf
http://www.dhss.mo.gov/BirthAndDeathRecords/correcting.html
http://www.dss.mo.gov/cse/father0705.htm
http://www.dhss.mo.gov/BirthAndDeathRecords/putative.html
http://www.marchmediation.org/
http://www.dss.mo.gov/cse/appforms.htm


A parent may also file an action to establish parentage. A parentage proceeding will 
substantially affect the rights of the parents and child.  The following seven basic steps 
will help you understand the court process when representing yourself in filing for 
establishment of paternity. The Circuit Clerk can provide or advise where forms may be 
obtained and explain the filing procedures. 

The steps include: 

1. Filing of Petition  
2. Service of summons on respondent(s)  
3. Answer due 30 days after service  
4. Biological (genetic) testing (optional)  
5. Mediation to develop a parenting plan (optional) 
6. Pre-trial Hearing  
7. Trial  

. Starting Your Case: The Petition 
  
The person who starts the parentage case is called the petitioner. Since children under the 
age of 18 usually cannot represent themselves, the petitioner ordinarily will seek to be 
appointed as “next friend” to act on behalf of the child.  The person to be identified as the 
co-parent is called the respondent. When a third person has physical care of the child, he 
or she should also be joined as a party in the case.  The petitioner has to tell the court IN 
WRITING what the case is about, who the case is against, and what outcome (known as 
relief) is wanted. The  "relief" wanted, may include a determination of the legal parents of 
the child, child custody and parenting time, financial support of the child, a name change 
for the child (optional) and issuance of a new birth certificate for the child. The writing is 
called the "petition." The petition must be complete and include certain information 
required by law. 
 
A form 'Petition for Establishment of Paternity' will be available from this Web site after 
you have completed the Litigant Awareness Program. 
 
How do I file? 
 
The petition must be verified before it can be filed. You must swear to or affirm the truth 
of the facts in the petition. Then, you must sign the petition under oath before a notary. 
Most banks have notaries that can do this for a small fee. 
 
Where can I file? 
 
A parentage proceeding should be filed in the county in which either the petitioner or 
respondent resides. 
 
How much will it cost to file?  
 
Filing fees vary depending on the type of case. The Circuit Clerk at your local courthouse 

Page 35 of 67Page 35 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772


how much it will cost to file your particular action. Some courts post this information 
online. 
 
What if I cannot afford the filing fee? 
 
The court may waive filing fees. If you cannot afford the court filing fee, you may file an 
application asking that the fees be waived. This is sometimes called In Forma Pauperis 
(in the manner of a poor person). Click here to download the application form. You may 
also ask the court clerk for the application form. You will have  to provide the court with 
detailed financial information under oath so that the judge can decide if you are eligible 
for a waiver. 
 
Are there any other forms that need to be filed? 
 
There are standard forms that must be filed along with the petition so that the court has 
enough information about you to review the circumstances of your case before a hearing. 
These forms usually include a 'UCCJA Affidavit,' a 'Filing Information Sheet,' a 
'Parenting Plan' , a 'Filing Information Sheet,' a 'Motion/Order and Consent of Next 
Friend,' and a proposed 'Judgment.' These forms are available for download from this site 
at the conclusion of this Litigant Awareness Program. Individual courts may have other 
versions of these forms that they utilize. You should check with your local court prior to 
filing your case. 
 
How do I notify the other party that I am starting a case against them? 

When a petition to establish paternity is filed the other side, the respondent, must be 
provided with official notice. This is called service of process. Service is very important 
and must be done correctly. Doing it incorrectly will cause not only delay of the case, but 
MAY cause dismissal of your case. Service is proper when the respondent receives a 
copy of the petition and the official notice to come to court or the summons. 
 
Service can be arranged with the Circuit Clerk when the petition is filed. Service must be 
made directly to the respondent in person in a parentage case. The most common 
methods of “service” are listed below: 

• Waiver of Personal Service: When the respondent is willing to accept the 
petition, you can give the respondent a copy, and have them SIGN, VERIFY, and 
NOTARIZE a form called “Entry of Appearance and Waiver of Service.” This 
form must be filed with the court.  

• Personal Service: The sheriff or other court officer hand delivers the petition and 
the summons to the respondent. It is important to provide the court with very 
specific information on where, how and when to find the respondent.  

• Private or Special Process Server: You may want to consider obtaining a special 
or private process server when the respondent is difficult to find or if they are 

Page 36 of 67Page 36 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/file.asp?id=10420
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772


trying to avoid being served. This is a situation where you may need to consult 
with an attorney who will know how to help you.  

What happens when the respondent is served? 
 
The respondent has thirty (30) days after personally receiving the summons and petition 
to file a written response to tell their side of the story. This is called the Answer. If this 
Answer is not received within 30 days, the respondent is in default. This means the 
petitioner can go to court and ask for the relief requested in the petition. 
 
A form 'Answer to Petition for Establishment of Paternity' will be available from this 
Web site after you have completed the Litigant Awareness Program. 
 
Is “paternity testing” required? 
 
Paternity testing is a way of determining who is likely to be a parent of the child. Either 
petitioner or respondent may request testing. Genetic testing is now used, since it is more 
reliable than a blood test.  It involves taking a sample of genetic material from both 
possible parents and the child (usually a buccal swab for mouth and cheek tissue) and 
comparing the samples in a laboratory to determine whether the genetic materials match.  
If the results of testing show at least a 98 percent probability that the man is the father, 
then Missouri law says he is the presumed father.   
 
How can “genetic testing” be arranged? 
 
Paternity testing may be arranged through a private laboratory.  This must be paid for 
directly.  Testing can also be obtained through the Family Support Division when a 
parent or possible parent applies for this service.  When a case is opened with the Family 
Support Division the state of Missouri will pay for the cost of the genetic test. Parents are 
not required to reimburse the state for the test unless the test is ordered by a court. Any 
party to the paternity lawsuit may also request that testing be performed. 
 
Test results are admissible as evidence in court in the form of a report by a person who 
performed or analyzed a genetic test fulfilling the requirements of state law.  If the testing 
procedure is challenged, certified documentation of the “chain of custody” of the tissue 
specimens is required to establish the collection of each sample, testing of the samples, 
and the outcome of the testing.  Over-the-counter home paternity testing kits may not 
provide sufficient documentation to introduce the test results into evidence. 
 
What if we agree on everything? 
 
Agreement on all the issues means your case is “uncontested.”  Parents who make an 
agreement for parenting their child in mediation will have “uncontested” issues.  This 
means that the case  will be resolved faster. You still must go to court to show that you 
meet the legal requirements for establishing parentage and to obtain the court’s approval. 

Page 37 of 67Page 37 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772


 
What if we can’t agree? 
 
If you cannot agree on all issues, your case is "contested." The fastest and least expensive 
way to resolve disputes is to try to work out the issues with the other party in advance. 
Click on the “dispute resolution” icon on the homepage for more information about 
mediation of parenting disputes.  If you are not able to work out your differences, you 
should contact an attorney. 
 
Can I contact the judge assigned to my case if I have questions or concerns? 
 
No! Judges must be fair to all parties and therefore may not speak to or otherwise 
communicate in any way with the parties outside of a hearing. 
 
My papers have been filed and the respondent has been served. What do I do to get 
ready for my hearing? 

•  
There are additional forms that need to be prepared and filed with the court before 
your hearing other than the petition. You need to check with your court for local 
court specific forms. There are some general forms required in all Missouri 
courts. These include: 
 
· Parenting Plan:  A parenting plan is required detailing the proposed schedule 
for time with the other parent. It will list when the children will be with each 
parent and who will make decisions about the children. It is best if both parents 
can agree on a parenting plan.  

· Documentation of Attendance at Parent Class: Some courts require parties in 
parentage cases to attend a parent education program. Check with your local court 
for this requirement.  Schedules of these required classes through your local court 
may be available online. 
 
· Documentation of Self-Representation Program: In Missouri, completion of 
the Litigant Awareness Program is mandatory. Download the certificate at the end 
of this program and file it with the Circuit Clerk where the case will be filed or is 
pending. 

 
What should I bring to the hearing? 
 
You need to bring all the paperwork involved in your case. If your case is contested you 
will have to prove your case with evidence which can include the testimony of other 
witnesses, documents and exhibits. 
 
Can I find out what the other party is going to say and bring to the hearing? 
Both you and the respondent have the right to get information about witnesses and copies 

Page 38 of 67Page 38 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3773
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772


of documents before the hearing. The process of obtaining and exchanging such 
information or evidence is called discovery. 
 
The rules of what you are allowed to get through discovery are complicated, and strict 
time limits apply. You may need to talk to a lawyer if you need to get a lot of discovery 
for your case. 
 
Can I try to settle my case before the hearing? 
 
Even after legal proceedings are initiated parties can settle their differences before the 
hearing. Settling your disputes between yourselves versus the judge or commissioner 
making a decision usually results in a better outcome. 
 
Most cases do settle out of court. It is better for everyone when parties agree. Mediation 
is always available at anytime throughout the legal process and highly recommended. 
The family court judge/commissioner can and many times will appoint a mediator, 
particularly if parents can’t agree on how the children will be cared for and how the 
parents will share their parenting responsibilities. 
 
How do I get a hearing? 
In Missouri, the circuit court will schedule hearings. In some circuits, a litigant will not 
be placed on the docket automatically, but will need to request a hearing to get on the 
docket. You should check with your local court for the applicable procedure. 
 
What do I need to do before my hearing? 
 
There are many things that need to be done before your court date and on the day of your 
appearance. You may want to print a copy of this page to keep in your file. 

• Read the laws pertaining to your case. Reading these laws will help prepare you 
for the case and avoid some mistakes. 

• Properly fill out and turn in all court forms. This is an important process. Your 
paperwork is your only way of communicating with the judge. Direct contact with 
the judge outside of the courtroom is prohibited. Forms can be filled out and filed 
in the clerk's office. Remember, court employees cannot give legal advice. 

• Make sure to serve the other party with court papers detailing the case 
against them. You must give a copy of all documents filed with the court to the 
other party. This is required so that the other side is informed about the case. 

• Visit the courtroom before your trial so you can become familiar with court 
procedures. You may want to call the clerk's office to get a schedule of cases. 
Doing this will help you prepare for what happens in the courtroom. 

Page 39 of 67Page 39 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772
http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3772


• Make sure to pay all the fees. Some court paperwork cannot be filed without 
paying a fee. If you feel that you can not pay the fees, then you can apply for a 
waiver of the fees. You should ask the clerk's office for a waiver form. 

• Call in advance if you need special accommodations. The court gladly will help 
anyone with a disability. Calling in advance will help the court make your 
experience in the courtroom the best possible. 

• Write out any questions for witnesses in advance. This process will help you 
organize your case and make sure you cover critical elements that the witness 
may know. Think about the kind of information you want to get out of the witness 
when writing questions you intend to ask. 

• Create an outline/brief summary of your case. This will help in the 
organization of your case. If you go in unprepared then you may forget important 
points of your case. 

I’ve never been to court. What should I expect? 

Some courts use a formal room like those portrayed in movies or on television. But some 
hearings may be held in a smaller courtroom or even in the judge’s or commissioner’s 
office.  You may find many people are present for the calling of the cases to be heard that 
day.  During your actual hearing in a parentage matter the courtroom will be closed and 
only the parties, their lawyers, and court staff may remain in the room.  Witnesses will be 
called in to testify and then asked to leave the courtroom. 

What do I need to do the day of my hearing? 

• Wear appropriate attire for the courtroom. Wearing nice clothes will earn you 
respect from the others in the courtroom. Items such as dress pants and a collared 
shirt are sufficient.  

• Arrive at court early. Remember, courts have tight security! It may take a while 
to get in the building. The judge will not appreciate anyone being late for a 
hearing, so give yourself plenty of time to get through security and to make your 
way to the courtroom.  

• Find out in advance where the court house is and the specific courtroom 
where your case is assigned. When you arrive at court, check-in with the 
division your case is assigned to.  

• Read and organize all documents. Being familiar with the documents of the 
case will help you reach a satisfactory outcome. 

• Make sure your witnesses show up for court. This is important so you can get 
the information you need to win into the record. If you are having trouble getting 

Page 40 of 67Page 40 of 67



a witness to show up, you can have the court issue a subpoena. This will force an 
uncooperative witness to show up. 

• Before you go into court make sure you turn off all electronic items, i.e., cell 
phone, pagers, etc. Interruptions such as ringing cell phones are not appreciated 
by the court. Remember you want to keep the judge happy because he or she may 
be deciding your case.  

• Please dispose of any food or drinks before you enter the courtroom. It is 
common court etiquette to leave all food and drink outside the courtroom. 

• Make sure you enter and leave the courtroom quietly, so as not to disturb 
others. Silence is required of people when they are in a courtroom unless the 
judge asks them to approach and be heard.  

What happens during the hearing? 

• The judge or commissioner will call your case for the hearing. Make sure you 
stand when the judge/commissioner enters and when you are talking to the 
judge/commissioner. Be respectful toward the judge/commissioner. 

• Address the judge or commissioner as "Your Honor." Do not interrupt the 
judge/commissioner while he or she is talking. When responding to a 
judge/commissioner do so in a respectful manner.  

• When your case is called for hearing, respond that you are present and you can 
come forward to the front of the courtroom. The judge or commissioner will 
instruct you when your hearing will begin. 

• Leave the courtroom if instructed to do so, but remain nearby so you can hear 
when your case is called. 

• When your hearing begins the judge/commission may make some remarks.   
Listen to the judge and ask for any clarification if you do not understand anything.  
An official court reporter will be taking down the testimony or the hearing will be 
tape recorded. Make sure you speak loud enough to be heard.  

• The petitioner will be heard first. At this time you and your witnesses will be 
heard by the court to tell your side of the case. Be prepared to make a brief 
summary of the case to help the judge understand what you are seeking from this 
trial. 

• Before the witnesses testify they will be called into the courtroom and given an 
oath by the judge. The first question you should ask is the witness's name and 
address. This will help lay down a framework for further questions. After this you 
can ask questions that will bring out the information pertaining to your case. 
When you question witnesses (other than yourself), ask questions, do not make 
statements. It is the witness giving testimony, so it needs to be their answer. The 

Page 41 of 67Page 41 of 67



respondent may object to evidence which you offer. You may respond to their 
objection. The judge or commissioner will decide if the objection is valid. Wait 
for the judge’s decision before you proceed.  

• The respondent is heard second. The petitioner may object to evidence offered 
by the respondent. During the course of the hearing the judge may ask questions 
at anytime. Listen attentively to the question and then answer. After the 
respondent’s presentation, the Petitioner may present rebuttal (to mitigate 
testimony the other party presented) evidence. You have the right to cross 
examine the other side's witnesses. Make sure you have questions written down 
when you go up to cross examine. Show respect for all witnesses, even though 
they may be testifying against you. 

When will the judge decide my case? 
After the evidence, the judge or commissioner will make a decision, which may be 
announced at the time of the hearing. Sometimes the judge or commissioner will take 
additional time to consider the evidence and the law before deciding a case. Once the 
judge or commissioner decides your case, the judge or commissioner will issue an 
judgment with findings and recommendations. 
 
The case will conclude with a written order from the judge. This is the final outcome 
of the case. You may be required to write the judgment. IT IS YOUR RESPONSIBILITY 
THAT THE JUDGMENT IS WRITTEN CORRECTLY AND INCLUDES 
EVERYTHING YOU EXPECTED. You usually will have an opportunity to review a 
judgment order before it is entered to make sure the judge has included everything you 
expected. The court clerk will mail a copy to each party.  
 
What do I have to do after the judge signs the judgment? 
First, you must do all the things that the judge ordered you to do in the judgment. That 
means you may have to apply for a new birth certificate for the child, request an 
assignment of wages for payment of child support, obtain health insurance for the child, 
or pay money. You may also need to provide copies of your judgment to others. 
 
Failing to do what the judge ordered may result in additional court proceedings for 
enforcement of the judgment or for contempt of court. 
 
If the co-parent fails to comply with the judge’s orders you will need to bring 
enforcement or contempt proceedings against the co-parent. 
 
  
Click here to print the Certificate of Completion of the Statewide Litigant Awareness 
Program and to obtain forms 

Page 42 of 67Page 42 of 67

http://www.selfrepresent.mo.gov/page.asp?id=3774


"Richard Halliburton" 
<rhalliburton@lawmo.org> 

07/14/2009 05:18 PM
Please respond to

<rhalliburton@lawmo.org>

To <Terri.Norris@courts.mo.gov>

cc

bcc

Subject FW: PLEASE REVIEW! New Education Components for 
Representing Yourself Web Site

History: This message has been forwarded.

Terri--Please distribute these comments from a Legal Aid of Western MO
managing attorney in the Warrensburg office to whoever should get them.
Thanks.
-----Original Message-----
From: Bill Shull
Sent: Monday, July 13, 2009 4:56 PM
To: Dick Halliburton
Subject: RE: PLEASE REVIEW! New Education Components for Representing
Yourself Web Site

Dick:

MOTION TO MODIFY - ERRORS

1) Motion must be filed in the court which entered the original custody or
support order.

2) No answer is required.  The failure to file responsive pleadings to a
motion to modify does not place a non-responding party in default within the
meaning of Missouri Supreme Court Rule 74.05. James v. James, 853 S.W.2d
425, 431 (Mo.App.1993); Cramer v. Carver, 125 S.W.3rd 373, 376
(Mo.App.2004); Peace v. Peace, 31 S.W.3rd 467, 471 (Mo.App.20000; S. v. G.,
298 S.W.2d 67, 74 (Mo.App.1957.)

3) The "Petitioner" does not necessarily go first in the presentation of
evidence-- the "Movant" does.

4) Publication can be used to change custody. See 452.370.6 RSMo for
provision for service on the clerk in $CS mod. where OP has disappeared.

5) If custody is changed, support likely will be also, necessitating the
creation of a Form 14.

6) Physical custodians are entitled to service of the Motion, but don't
necessarily have to be added as "parties."

NAME CHANGE - ERRORS

1) I have no idea what the "State Registrar" is. Amendment of birth records
is done by the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of
Vital Statistics.

2) They might as well go ahead and explain the "family name change" rule
(95.02)

PARENTAGE - ERRORS

1) Genetic testing. The way I read 210.834, if the court ORDERS testing
through a certified "expert" (210.834(7)) you get a free pass on the

Page 43 of 67Page 43 of 67



competency of the results (still need authentication via chain of custody
affidavit.) If you go out and get your own test, you may need to call the
tester for foundation.

2) Both this section and the Motion to Modify section ought to address
marking and offering exhibits.

-----Original Message-----
From: Dick Halliburton
Sent: Thursday, July 09, 2009 9:30 AM
To: Warren Wade; Jennifer Soper; Janice Franklin; Bill Shull
Subject: FW: PLEASE REVIEW! New Education Components for Representing
Yourself Web Site

Do you have any comments on these?

(See attached file: Change of Name info2.doc)(See attached file: Motion for
Family Access.doc)(See attached file: PARENTAGE.doc)(See attached file:
Motion to Modify Custody060409.doc)

Page 44 of 67Page 44 of 67



Representing Yourself Web Site Survey Comments 
May – June 2009 

 
1. straight and to the point 
2. I was confused as to how to fill out the forms and what all was needed to do and 

had to end up going to the library to print out other forms then go back to the bank 
I believ[e]. 

3. This was an easy site to understand. 
4. I have called several lawyer offices and they all want to post a retainer for a non-

contested divorce. They do not seem to understand that sometimes people can 
agree and simply need the tools to make things legal. This site is a godsend for 
those people. I plan to hire an attorney simply to review my forms before I file 
them. 

5. Why is this survey the second thing you come to when seeking the papers you 
need for divorce? I have not seen the papers yet to be able to effectively answer 
your questions. 

6. I am and never were marriaged. I am looking for legal help to get joint custody of 
my son. He lives in Missouri now but I live in Arizona. 

7. We have both went to a mediation and have came to an agreement, then had all 
the documents drawn up by the lawyer/mediator. 

8. I think everything on this website is a big help. 
9. I don’t have divorce papers at all that is why I am using the web site. I had 

divorce papers filled out and the Schuyler County court house would not let me 
use thim. I am hopeing that this can take place as soon as possible. 

10. as of yet I have not seen the divorce forms. 
11. I went through this process once and used the forms from www.courts.mo.gov. 

Filed the paperwork with the circuit court and when I sent to the assigned court 
date, they said I needed to use the correct forms. I used them once. How many 
times do I have to do this and cost me refilling charges. Is the state trying to make 
additional money. 

12. I have a simple uncontested divorce modification for child support and there is no 
way to represent myself in this matter. I have to obtain an attorney and pay money 
I do not have for something that is totally agreed on by both parties. 

13. The form has a glitch in selecting whether the petitioner is husband or wife. It 
automatically selects “husband” and does not permit the user to unselect, thus all 
following sheets are incorrect. 

14. I am a paralegal and the family law attorney at the firm where I work thinks I can 
file and represent myself. 

15. There was no Notice of Hearing form. The lady at the courthouse couldn’t give 
me any info. on how much notice had to be given or any restrictions, timeframes, 
requirements, etc. required by the court. She said I would find it all here. Well, 
check your website again because I couldn’t pull it up. 

16. Most of the forms are easy to fill out. The distribution of property and debt is a 
little difficult to do without a lawyer. 

Page 45 of 67Page 45 of 67



17. my divorce happened several years ago, we are just looking to modify child 
support/custody. We are in agree[ment] on our terms, which is why we are 
looking to do our own paperwork. 

18. I’m still trying to find and download the forms. This survey has popped up so 
hopefully my filling it out will then take me to the forms. That is why I have 
answered no opinion because I’m trying to get to the forms and can’t form an 
opinion until I download and read them. 

19. Thank you for your help. I’m disabled and have low income. I thank you again. 
20. I need the form for divorce as follows: Motion to Set Aside the Dismissal 
21. Took the quiz before I used the website. 
22. I found this site to be very thorough in preparing a person in what is needed, what 

to expect and how to go about everything. Thanks so much. 
23. I was only looking for court forms and ended up here as you do not seem to have 

any sample forms for anything else other than divorce which is very sad. Other 
things happen in this world that folks on their own need help with and this 
website is sorely lacking in help!!!! I am very disappointed. How about fixing this 
problem with sample forms for people that have or want to answer a small claims 
action or need to file a motion and with the motion a notice of hearing and some 
instructions for doing this kind of thing???? 

24. It’s not easy to get the forms downloaded. 
25. I don’t agree that it should be mandatory for an uncontested divorce. Nor do I feel 

that a court appearance by either party is necessary. 
 

Page 46 of 67Page 46 of 67



 

 

Representing Yourself Web Site Survey Statistics 
July 1, 2008 – June 30, 2009 (FY 2009) 

(n = 4,348) 
 
 
 

How many years of schooling have you completed? 
 

SCHOOL Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Some High School 605 13.93 605 13.93

High School Diploma 982 22.62 1587 36.55

GED 364 8.38 1951 44.93

Some College 1216 28.01 3167 72.94

Occupational/Vocational 
Degree 

218 5.02 3385 77.96

Associates Degree 343 7.90 3728 85.86

Bachelor's Degree 409 9.42 4137 95.28

Master's Degree 135 3.11 4272 98.39

Professional Degree 44 1.01 4316 99.40

Doctorate 26 0.60 4342 100.00

 
 
 

 
Frequency Missing = 6

 
 
 

 
How much money to you make a year before taxes are taken out? 

 

MONEY Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

0-10,999 1369 31.96 1369 31.96

11,000-19,999 777 18.14 2146 50.11

20,000-29,999 859 20.06 3005 70.16

30,000-39,999 566 13.22 3571 83.38

40,000-49,999 293 6.84 3864 90.22

50,000 & Over 419 9.78 4283 100.00

 

 
Frequency Missing = 65

 
 
 
 
 

Page 47 of 67Page 47 of 67



 

 

 
How many children do you have? 

 

 

CHILDREN Frequency Percent
Cumulative
Frequency

Cumulative 
Percent 

0 1190 30.36 1190 30.36 

1 770 19.64 1960 50.00 

2 992 25.31 2952 75.31 

3 618 15.77 3570 91.07 

4 230 5.87 3800 96.94 

5 79 2.02 3879 98.95 

6 19 0.48 3898 99.44 

7 9 0.23 3907 99.67 

8 6 0.15 3913 99.82 

9 4 0.10 3917 99.92 

12 3 0.08 3920 100.00 

Frequency Missing = 429
 
 

How long have you been married? 
 

LENGTH OF 

MARRIAGE Frequency Percent
Cumulative
Frequency

Cumulative
Percent

0-5 2151 49.65 2151 49.65

5-10 1031 23.80 3182 73.45

More than 10 years 991 22.88 4173 96.33

No longer married 159 3.67 4332 100.00
 

Frequency Missing = 17

Page 48 of 67Page 48 of 67



 

 

If these forms were in another language, what language would you need? 
 
 

LANGUAGE Frequency Percent
Cumulative
Frequency

Cumulative
Percent

Spanish 220 82.09

 

 

220 82.09

Vietnamese 5 1.87 225 83.96

Bosnian 2 0.75 227 84.70

Somali 3 1.12 230 85.82

Russian 8 2.99 238 88.81

Other 30 11.19 268 100.00

Frequency Missing = 4081
 
 
 
 

Where do you most often use the Internet? 
 

USEINTERNET Frequency Percent
Cumulative
Frequency

Cumulative
Percent

Home 2658 61.93 2658 61.93

Work 801 18.66 3459 80.59

Public Library 513 11.95 3972 92.54

Court House 7 0.16 3979 92.71

Other Public Site 77 1.79 4056 94.50

Other 236 5.50 4292 100.00
 

Frequency Missing = 56

Page 49 of 67Page 49 of 67



 

 

 
Have you talked to a lawyer or free legal service about your divorce? 

 
 

 

CONTACTEDLAWYER Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Yes 1581 36.90 1581 36.90

No 2703

Frequency Missing = 64
 
 
 
 

Why do you want to represent yourself? 
 

WHY Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Too expensive to hire a lawyer 2094 48.28 2094 48.28

I do not want to hire a lawyer 115 2.65 2209 50.93

I think I can represent myself 202 4.66 2411 55.59

No complex issues to settle 927 21.37 3338 76.97

Case involves a divorce and can be settled 
without a lawyer

822 18.95 4160 95.92

None of the above 177 4.08 4337 100.00
 

Frequency Missing =11

63.10 4284 100.00

Page 50 of 67Page 50 of 67



 

 

 
It was easy to find what I was looking for on the Representing Yourself Web site. 

 
 

 
Frequency Missing = 1

 
 

The Litigant Awareness Program was easy to understand. 
 

ELEVEN Frequency Percent
Cumulative
Frequency

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 246 5.67 246 5.67

Disagree 111 2.56 357 8.23

No Opinion 1030 23.74 1387 31.97

Agree 1796 41.40 3183 73.37

Strongly Agree 907 20.91 4090 94.28

Not applicable 248 5.72 4338 100.00
 

Frequency Missing = 11

TEN Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 324 7.45 324 7.45

Disagree 244 5.61 568 13.06

No Opinion 727 16.72 1295 29.78

Agree 1836 42.23 3131 72.01

Strongly Agree 1106 25.44 4237 97.45

Not applicable 111 2.55 4348 100.00

Page 51 of 67Page 51 of 67



 

 

 
Without the Litigant Awareness Program materials, I would not have been as prepared for court. 

 
 

 
Frequency Missing = 24

 
 
 
 

It was easy to know which divorce forms I needed to use. 
 

THIRTEEN Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 254 5.88 254 5.88

Disagree 301 6.97 555 12.85

No Opinion 1060 24.54 1615 37.39

Agree 1806 41.82 3421 79.21

Strongly Agree 709 16.42 4130 95.62

Not applicable 189 4.38 4319 100.00
 

Frequency Missing = 30

TWELVE Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 220 5.09 220 5.09

Disagree 191 4.42 411 9.50

No Opinion 1390 32.14 1801 41.64

Agree 1521 35.17 3322 76.81

Strongly Agree 682 15.77 4004 92.58

Not applicable 321 7.42 4325 100.00

Page 52 of 67Page 52 of 67



 

 

The divorce forms were easy to use. 
 
 

FOURTEEN Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 218 5.05 218 5.05

Disagree 156 3.61 374 8.66

No Opinion 1225 28.35 1599 37.01

Agree 1821 42.14 3420 79.15

Strongly Agree 686 15.88 4106 95.02

 

 
Frequency Missing = 28

 
 
 
 
 

After looking at everything on this site, I feel more ready to represent myself in court. 
 

FIFTEEN Frequency Percent
Cumulative 
Frequency 

Cumulative
Percent

Strongly Disagree 216 5.00 216 5.00

Disagree 100 2.31 316 7.31

No Opinion 1105 25.56 1421 32.86

Agree 1880 43.48 3301 76.34

Strongly Agree 852 19.70 4153 96.05

Not applicable 171 3.95 4324 100.00
 

Frequency Missing = 24

Not applicable 215 4.98 4321 100.00

Page 53 of 67Page 53 of 67



 

 

Cross Tabulation: INCOME by REASON FOR CHOOSING PRO SE 
 
 

Table of MONEY by WHY 

MONEY WHY 

Frequency 
Percent 

Row Pct 
Col Pct Too 

expensive 
to hire a 
lawyer 

I do not 
want to 
hire a 
lawyer 

I think I 
can 

represe
nt 

myself 

No 
complex 
issues to 

settle 

Case 
involves a 

divorce and 
can be 
settled 

without a 
lawyer 

None of 
the 

above Total 

0-10,999 657 
15.38 
48.10 
31.83 

49
1.15
3.59

42.61

79
1.85
5.78

39.11

287
6.72

21.01
31.50

242 
5.66 

17.72 
30.06 

52
1.22
3.81

29.55

1366
31.97

11,000-19,999 380 
8.89 

49.03 
18.41 

19
0.44
2.45

16.52

41
0.96
5.29

20.30

178
4.17

22.97
19.54

128 
3.00 

16.52 
15.90 

29
0.68
3.74

16.48

775
18.14

20,000-29,999 422 
9.88 

49.30 
20.45 

18
0.42
2.10

15.65

33
0.77
3.86

16.34

167
3.91

19.51
18.33

180 
4.21 

21.03 
22.36 

36
0.84
4.21

20.45

856
20.03

30,000-39,999 258 
6.04 

45.74 
12.50 

14
0.33
2.48

12.17

18
0.42
3.19
8.91

136
3.18

24.11
14.93

114 
2.67 

20.21 
14.16 

24
0.56
4.26

13.64

564
13.20

40,000-49,999 137 
3.21 

46.76 
6.64 

6
0.14
2.05
5.22

12
0.28
4.10
5.94

65
1.52

22.18
7.14

61 
1.43 

20.82 
7.58 

12
0.28
4.10
6.82

293
6.86

50,000 & Over 210 
4.91 

50.12 
10.17 

9
0.21
2.15
7.83

19
0.44
4.53
9.41

78
1.83

18.62
8.56

80 
1.87 

19.09 
9.94 

23
0.54
5.49

13.07

419
9.81

Total 2064 
48.30 

115
2.69

202
4.73

911
21.32

805 
18.84 

176
4.12

4273
100.00

Frequency Missing = 75 
 
 

Page 54 of 67Page 54 of 67



 

1. What is your ZIP code? 

 
 
We would like to know if you think this Web site is helpful. You do not have to answer the questions. If 
you do answer the questions, your responses will be confidential.  
 

 
 
 
2. How many years of schooling have you completed? 

Some High School 

High School Graduate 

GED 

Some College 

Occupational/Vocational Degree 

Associates Degree 

Bachelors Degree 

Masters Degree 

Professional School Degree 

Doctorate Degree 
 
 
3. How much money do you make a year before taxes are taken out? 

$0 - 10,999 

$11,000 - 19,999 

$20,000 - 29,999 

$30,000 - 39,999 

$40,000 - 49,999 

$50,000 or over 

Unemployed 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55 of 67Page 55 of 67



 
4. How many children do you have? 

None 

1 

2 

3 

4 

More than 4 
 
 
5. How long have you been married? 

0 - 5 years 

5 - 10 years 

more than 10 years 

no longer married 
 
 
6. Where do you most often use the Internet? 

Home 

Work 

Public Library 

Courthouse 

Friend’s or relative’s house 

Other (please specify below) 

 
 
 
7. Have you talked to a lawyer or free legal service about your divorce? 

Yes No 
 
 
8. Why do you want to represent yourself? (Select the one that best fits your situation.) 

I want to hire a lawyer, but I cannot afford one 

I do not want to pay a lawyer 

I think I can represent myself 

No complex issues to settle (real estate, IRAs, pensions, child custody) 

Other (please specify below) 

 
 

Page 56 of 67Page 56 of 67



 
 
9. What type of family law matter are you intending to file? 

Dissolution of Marriage 

Custody Issues 

Domestic Violence 

Paternity 

Support 

Visitation 

Other (please specify below) 

 
 
 
 
Please respond to the following using a scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree: 
 
12. It was easy to find what I was looking for on the Representing Yourself Web site. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
13. The educational information was easy to understand. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
14. Without the educational information I would not have been as prepared for court. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
15. It was easy to know what forms I needed to use. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
16. The forms were easy to use. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
17. After looking at everything on this site, I feel more ready to represent myself in court. 

Strongly Disagree Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly Agree Not Applicable 
 
Please make comments about the forms or the Litigant Awareness Program materials here. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57 of 67Page 57 of 67



Kathleen 
Bird/7/Courts/Judicial 

06/10/2009 09:54 AM

To Terri Norris/OSCA/Courts/Judicial@Judicial

cc

bcc

Subject CAFC FAQ

History: This message has been replied to.

Terri:  I got an interesting question this morning:

If I am using a lawyer to assist me but the lawyer does not make an appearance in the case, do I need to 
complete the litigant awareness program?

With this curious follow-up:

If I file the selfrepresented certificate (litigant awareness program) and then decide later I need a lawyer to 
represent me, can I have one or have I waived that right?

Kathleen Bird, Director
Office of Dispute Resolution
Seventh Judicial Circuit
351 East Kansas St.
Liberty, MO  64068
(816) 736-8402

The information contained in this message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the 
recipient(s) named above.  If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, you have received 
this document in error and no consent is provided to review, distribute or copy this message.  Please 
delete the original message immediately.

Page 58 of 67Page 58 of 67



Terri 
Norris/OSCA/Courts/Judicial 

06/12/2009 09:41 AM

To Kathleen Bird/7/Courts/Judicial@Judicial

cc

bcc

Subject Web site

I just got this from a call to the Help Desk from the circuit clerk's office in Pettis County.

-----------------------

Case Net is great and the Representing Yourself is necessary, however, we get a 
large number of cases where the parties have gone to the Representing Yourself  
site and do not know what they need, how to notice the hearing, and then get to 
court and do not know how to present evidence or have a judgment prepared.      
Many admit that they "did not read the material very well" or that "someone     
helped them".                                                                   
                                                                                
We have accessed that site and it appears that all you need to do is tab        
through the instructions.  It would seem it could be more beneficial if it were 
set up more like JEWELS whereas you could not go onto the next page without     
passing questions regarding the information presented.  Just a suggestion!!!

-----------------------

Terri Norris
Division of Court Programs and Research
Office of State Courts Administrator
573/522-8259
Terri.Norris@courts.mo.gov

Page 59 of 67Page 59 of 67



Page 60 of 67Page 60 of 67



Summary of the ‘2009 Survey for the Solo-Small Practice Committee’ 
 
 
Mary Lou Martin, an attorney in Springfield, Missouri, directed her secretary to call and survey all 
115 county clerks’ offices. The two survey questions asked were: 
 

1.) What is this particular court’s rule(s) in dealing with the pro se litigants? 
2.) What problem(s) has this particular court been confronted with since the rule was  
 enacted. 

 
No one could be reached for comment in 12 of the 115 counties. The results of the survey were 
provided to attendees of the Solo and Small Firm Conference held in June. 
 
 
How Do Court Staff Deal with Pro Se Litigants 
 
When asked about their courts’ rule(s) in dealing with pro se litigants, 79% of the counties 
responded they refer pro se litigants to the Representing Yourself (RY) Web site. Three percent 
indicated they provide materials from the RY site, while 4 percent stated they provide materials 
created by their own court. Only 2 percent of respondents indicated they do not have any pro se 
litigants. The court clerk contacted in Grundy County indicated she is “not sure what we’re allowed 
to do or not do. There are no guidelines.” (Table 1) 
 

Table 1: What is this particular Court’s rule(s) in dealing with the Pro Se litigants? 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

R
ef

er
 to

 R
Y

 W
eb

 S
ite

P
ro

vi
de

 W
eb

 S
ite

 M
at

er
ia

ls

O
w

n 
M

at
er

ia
ls

 P
ro

vi
de

d

N
o 

P
ro

 S
e 

Li
tig

an
ts

D
on

't 
K

no
w

 W
ha

t t
o 

D
o

O
th

er

N
o 

A
ns

w
er

Percent

 
 

Page 61 of 67Page 61 of 67



Fifteen of the 115 counties (13%) specifically stated the Certificate of Completion of the Litigant 
Awareness Program is required before filing for a Dissolution of Marriage (Clark, Dent, Dunklin, 
Holt, Lafayette, McDonald, Mississippi, Pemiscot, Perry, Polk, Schuyler, Scotland, Stone, Vernon, 
and Webster). 
 
Six of the counties (Dallas, Knox, Laclede, Macon, Wayne, and Worth) noted they print the forms 
package for litigants if asked. Only Laclede and Macon county staff indicated they charge for 
printing. Many counties also indicated they direct pro se litigants to their local libraries for 
assistance and forms printing. 
 
In Cass, Greene, and Montgomery counties, pro se litigants are encouraged to attend court on 
certain days to observe court proceedings in preparation for their own court appearance. 
 
Six counties have specialized staff or additional resources available to assist pro se litigants. These 
include the following: 
 

 Holt County employs a limited representation attorney to assist litigants through the process, 
“thus preventing a conflict of interest between the elected officials and constituents.” 

 Lafayette County has a local court rule in place requiring interested pro se litigants to attend 
a course. After the course is completed, the litigant is allowed to print the Certificate of 
Completion from the RY Web site. 

 Nodaway, Stoddard, and Vernon counties all have a public access computer available for 
litigants to take the questionnaire, receive and print the certificate, and obtain the forms. 

 St. Louis County provides a Resource Center for use by the public, particularly pro se 
litigants. 

 
 
What Problems Have Courts Encountered since Rule 88.09 was Enacted 
 
When asked about problems the court has been confronted with since the new rule was enacted, the 
majority of respondents stated problems have been minimal (24%). The next frequently stated issue 
concerned problems with litigants asking clerks to assist in completing the forms and/or provide 
legal advice (13%). As one clerk stated, “pro se litigants are bringing in cumbersome loads of 
paperwork, uncompleted forms, asking the court clerk what paper work they need or [do] not need.” 
Another clerk stated, “…that many pro se litigants ask the clerks for legal advice, [and] this can 
create time constraints on the clerks at the Circuit Clerks office.” 
  
Other problems noted most frequently include this has created a need for additional staff (9%), 
litigants do not understand legal procedure (9%), and litigants do not understand how to complete 
the forms (7%). Nine percent responded stated the county sees no or few pro se litigants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62 of 67Page 62 of 67



What Problems Have Courts Encountered since Rule 88.09 was Enacted 
 

Percent

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

N
ot

 R
ea

di
ng

 W
eb

 S
ite

U
nc

om
pl

et
ed

 F
or

m
s

C
le

rk
s 

C
an

't 
G

iv
e 

Le
ga

l A
dv

ic
e

A
dd

iti
on

al
 S

ta
ff 

N
ee

de
d

M
in

im
al

 P
ro

bl
em

s
P

ro
bl

em
 w

ith
 J

ud
gm

en
t

A
sk

 J
ud

ge
 fo

r H
el

p
D

oe
sn

’t 
U

nd
er

st
an

d 
Le

ga
l P

ro
ce

du
re

D
oe

sn
't 

U
nd

er
st

an
d 

Fo
rm

s

Fr
us

tra
te

d 
Ju

dg
es

N
o/

Fe
w

 P
ro

 S
e 

Li
tig

an
ts

N
o 

C
om

m
en

t

N
o 

A
ns

w
er

Percent

 
 
Other comments of interest to the Committee on Access to Family Courts include the following: 
 

 “…most do okay in the process, especially those with less income, no children, or assets.” 
 “For those pro se litigants with out children or property it seems to be good.” 
 “...this is a good thing due to the economy.” 
 “Those filing pro se without children or property tend to have a high success rate.” 
 “…pro se litigants do not realize that civil cases are party driven, because of this, many 

petitions filed by pro se litigants have not had any further action taken on them, therefore the 
litigant loses their filing fee and the petition is then dismissed.” 

 
The full survey results are available at http://www.courts.mo.gov/page.asp?id=10562. 

Page 63 of 67Page 63 of 67

http://www.courts.mo.gov/page.asp?id=10562


Page 64 of 67Page 64 of 67



Page 65 of 67Page 65 of 67



Page 66 of 67Page 66 of 67



ACCESS TO FAMILY COURTS COMMITTEE 
SUBCOMMITTEES 

 
February 25, 2009 

 
 
Recommendation #1 & #5 – Litigant Education 
Program/Brochure 
Lori Levine, Chair 
Kathleen Bird 
Karen Brown 
Fred Cruse 
Dick Halliburton 
Charles Hutson 
Mary Ann McClure 
Allan Stewart 
 
 
Recommendation #2 – Court Staff Education 
Kathleen Bird, Chair 
Karen Brown 
Charles Hutson 
Mary Ann McClure 
 
 
Recommendation #3 – Judicial Education 
J.D. Williamson, Chair 
Ben Burkemper 
Leslie Schneider 
Miles Sweeney 
 
 
Recommendation #4 – Internet/Website 
Kathleen Bird, Chair 
Lou DeFeo 
Beth Dessem 
Richard Holtmeyer 
Kelly Martinez 
Terri Norris 
 
 
Recommendation #6 & #7 – Alliances with State 
and Local Bar Associations/Pro Bono Initiatives 
Allan Stewart, Chair 
Fred Cruse 
Lou DeFeo 
Dick Halliburton 
Richard Holtmeyer 
Leslie Schneider 
Miles Sweeney 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation #8 – Forms 
Dennis Smith, Chair 
Richard Holtmeyer 
Kelly Martinez 
Tricia Scaglia 
Deanna Scott 
Leslie Schneider 
 
 
Communications/Networking 
Fred Cruse, Chair 
Ben Burkemper 
Lou DeFeo 
Beth Dessem 
Allan Stewart 
J.D. Williamson 
Mary Ann McClure 
Tricia Scaglia 
Bob Stoeckl 
 
 
Funding 
Mary Ann McClure, Co-Chair 
Tricia Scaglia, Co-Chair 
Dick Halliburton 
Deanna Scott 
 
 
Self-Help Center Development 
J.D. Williamson 
Leslie Schneider 
Tricia Scaglia 
Ben Burkemper 
Kelly Cramer 

Page 67 of 67Page 67 of 67



 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAFC Pro Bono Plan 
 

Meeting Documents 
 

August 28, 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents: 
1. Draft design memo re: pro bono website and on-line databases. 
2. Sample description of prescreen agency for pro bono website. ….. 8 
3. Email exchange re: Legal Services serving as matchmaker or gateway for underserved group. .. 10 
4. Summary of Dick Halliburton’s Concerns from DLS Committee Minutes, May 9, 2009. … 12 
5. Email exchange re: Special Committee to Develop Pro Bono Proposals. …. 13 
6. Mo Bar article (May-June 2004) re: Corporate Pro Bono program. …. 15 
7. ABA 2009 report on survey of pro bono attorneys. Excerpts. ….. 18 
8. Mo Bar Long Range Plan 1995. Excerpt re: Goal III. ”To Promote Access to Justice for Everyone.”  23 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2

 
 

Mo Bar Pro Bono Website. 
Revised 8/9/2009 

The pro bono website would contain two databases: one for volunteer attorneys the other for donated 
resources available to pro bono attorneys.  Missouri attorneys would be able to access the site and register to 
volunteer for pro bono services, revise their registration and control the time period their name would show in 
a search.  Cf. Mo Bar LawyerSearch registration at --  
http://members.mobar.org/members/lawyersearchprefs.aspx and Mo Bar Committee registration at -- 
http://members.mobar.org/members/joincommittee.aspx?CommitteeID=1.   Also the site would be available to 
Missouri attorneys to register donated resources which they are willing to share with pro bono attorneys.  Both 
databases would be searchable by approved agencies.  Cf. Mo Bar LawyerSearch site at -- 
http://members.mobar.org/members/LawyerSearch/LawyerSearch.aspx  
 

http://members.mobar.org/members/lawyersearchprefs.aspx
http://members.mobar.org/members/joincommittee.aspx?CommitteeID=1
http://members.mobar.org/members/LawyerSearch/LawyerSearch.aspx


 3

 
 

DRAFT of WELCOME PAGE 
 

The Missouri Bar 
Pro Bono Attorney Registration 

 
Welcome to the Missouri Bar Pro Bono Attorney Registration site.  Pro bono attorneys live the highest 
traditions of our profession by providing access to justice for those who live at the margins of our society. 
 
This list of pro bono attorneys will not be made available to the public. 
 
Only agencies authorized by Mo Bar will have access to the list of pro bono attorneys.  Presently the 
authorized agencies are: 

• Mid-Missouri Legal Services {LINK} 
• Legal Services of Southern Missouri  {LINK} 
• Legal Aid of Western Missouri  {LINK} 
• Legal Services of Eastern Missouri  {LINK} 
• Samaritan Center Legal Care  {LINK} 
• Mid-Missouri Access to Justice Project.  {LINK} 

 
For more information such as contact information, geographic area of service, legal areas served, client 
eligibility criteria, supportive resources etc. click on the agency name above. 
 
Applicants will be referred only after you have agreed to accept the case.  Applicants will not be sent 
directly to you.   The agencies will prescreen each applicant for financial eligibility and legal issues.  No 
frivolous matter will be referred.  After prescreening the agency will contact prospective attorneys from the 
list who have indicated interest in providing pro bono services in the area of law appropriate to the applicant’s 
need and in the community where the applicant or case is located.  You will not be called on a case outside of 
your area of practice. Additional consideration will be given to special language needs.  If contacted, you will 
first be given the opportunity to do a conflicts check.  Once you accept the referral, you will be provided 
written information about their legal issue and their financial situation. 
 
 
How many pro bono clients you accept in a year is solely up to you. If you want to temporarily take your 
name off the list because you already handling one or more pro bono matters, are too busy, are going on 
vacation, or for any other reason, simply click “I want to take a leave” {LINK} and chose the length of your 
leave time from the drop down menu.   During your time on leave, your name will not appear on the list.  
After the leave period expires your name will reappear on the list automatically.   In short, the website puts 
you in control of your schedule and workload. 
 
You are not alone.  You will be supported in your pro bono work by others. 

• The Supreme Court of Missouri has created a standing committee tasked with encouraging initiatives 
to provide more sources of pro bono legal assistance.  The documents of  the Committee on Access to 
Family Courts (CAFC) are available on their web archives {LINK} 

• The Supreme Court has revised the Rules {LINK} on Limited Scope Representation which will save 
pro bono lawyers  time and allow for more efficient representation. 

• Free malpractice coverage {LINK} is available for pro bono attorneys working through governmental 
or charitable agencies. 



 4

• A special Mo Bar list serve {LINK} has been set up for pro bono attorneys to communicate with pro 
bono colleagues statewide.  Need a form?  Got a legal question?  Put it on the list serve and get help. 

• An on-line Deskbook {LINK} for Pro Bono Attorneys is free and offers practical tips, forms, etc. on 
matters usually encountered by pro bono attorneys. 

• The agencies prescreening applicants all have resources available to help you.  Click on the list of 
agencies above for detailed information. 

• Law firms and others across the state are invited to post resources (meeting places, office equipment, 
law libraries etc.) which they are willing to share with pro bono attorneys on a special searchable 
database {LINK} for you. 

 
 
 
 



 5

 
Pro Bono Attorneys Database Registration 

 
Idea:  by entering the attorney’s bar number, name, address, phone, email or populated.  Ask attorney to 
review and correct. 
 

• My principal office is in ______ county.  I also practice in the following counties:  (drop down.). 
• I speak the following languages in addition to English:  (drop down) 
• For information on free malpractice insurance for pro bono attorneys, click here. {LINK to Pro Bono 

Deskbook chapter.) 
• I would like to join the special list serve for pro bono attorneys. 
• I practice: 

  as a solo practitioner;  
  in as small firm (1 – 10 members);  
  in a medium size firm (11 – 20 members) or 
  in a large firm (more than 20 members). 

• I am in 
  private practice 
  corporate practice 
  government practice. 
  other _________ 

 
• I am  

 in active practice 
 semi-retired 
 retired. 

 
• I am willing: 

 To represent needy clients on a pro bono basis; 
 To provide limited scope representation to needy clients; 
 To mentor less experienced attorney who are doing pro bono work. 

 
• I would like to provide pro bono legal services in the following areas of law:  (multiple dropdown 

similar to Lawyer Search list) 
 
 

* * * 
 
NOTE:  The list of attorneys willing to provide pro bono legal services will only be made available to 
approved agencies serving low-income persons.  Those agencies include: Legal Aid of Western Missouri, 
Legal Services of Eastern Missouri, Legal Services of Southern Missouri, Mid-Missouri Legal Services, 
Samaritan Center Legal Care (serving six counties around Jefferson City), Mid-Missouri Access to Justice 
Project (serving Boone and Callaway Counties), and other agencies certified by Missouri Bar and the Supreme 
Court Committee on Access to Family Courts.  This list will not be made available to the general public.  
 
 

* * * 
I am willing to provide legal services: 

 Pro bono (without compensation) 
 For a reduced fee 



 6

 Through limited scope representation.  (For more on limited scope representation click here {LINK to Pro 
Bono Deskbook} 

 
NOTE:  The terms of representation are a matter of mutual consent between the attorney and the client.  No 
attorney is expected to represent a client until after the attorney has had the opportunity to personally 
interview the client and agree on the terms of representation. 
 
I am willing to take referrals of pro bono clients from the following programs:  (For detailed information about 
any program, click on the name of the program.) 

 Any pro bono program approved by the Missouri Bar. 
 Mid-Missouri Legal Services {LINK} 
 Legal Services of Southern Missouri  {LINK} 
 Legal Aid of Western Missouri  {LINK} 
 Legal Services of Eastern Missouri  {LINK} 
 Samaritan Center Legal Care  {LINK} 
 Mid-Missouri Access to Justice Project.  {LINK} 
 Any of the above. 

 
* * * 

 
In order to provide attorneys control over their own schedule, this site allows attorneys to easily “take leave” 
from accepting pro bono matters by going on-line and choosing the period of leave.  During the period of 
leave, the attorney’s name will not display when a search is made.  After the period of leave, the attorney’s 
name will automatically reappear on the list of available attorneys. 
 
If you already are providing services in a pro bono case, are temporarily unable to take a pro bono matter or 
simply want a vacation from volunteering to accept pro bono matters, use this tool. 
 
I will temporarily be unavailable to accept pro bono matters for the following period:  {drop down choice of 
30-60-90-120-180 days} 
 
{Is there a way to track how many pro bono cases an attorney accepts?} 
 

Pro Bono Attorneys Resources Database 
 
Many attorneys who wish to volunteer for pro bono services to assist needy persons lack office resources 
because they are retired, government or corporate attorneys.  In order to assist pro bono clients they may need 
a work place, a place to meet clients, access to a computer, copier, fax or other office equipment, access to 
legal research both printed and electronic and other needs.  This database is to facilitate offices willing to 
make such resources available making connection with volunteer pro bono attorneys. 
 
Our office/firm is willing to assist volunteer pro bono attorneys in the following ways: 

 Provide access to the following office equipment. 
 Copier 
 Fax 
 Telephone. 
 Other (describe) ____________________________________ 
  

 Provide office space for the attorney to work 
 Provide a meeting place for the attorney to meet with clients. 
 Provide access to a computer. 



 7

 Provide access to our law library for research. 
 Provide access to on-line legal research services such as Westlaw. 
 Provide assistance in typing documents. 
 Other assistance (describe) ________________________________ 

 
To make arrangements for these services, the attorney should contact NAME, PHONE, EMAIL, CITY, 
COUNTY, ZIP 
 
 



 8

SAMPLE description of prescreening agency for Mo Bar Pro Bono Website. 
 
Program name:  Legal Care 
 
Contact information: 

Samaritan Center Legal Care 
1310 E. McCarty St. 
Jefferson City Mo, 65101 
Phone: (573)634-7776 
Fax:  (573)761-4856 
Email:  LegalCare@MidMoSamaritan.org 
Website for attorneys:  www.midmosamaritan.org/legalcare  

 
How do applicants register?  Applicants must come to the Samaritan Center to register.  (Special 
arrangements will be made for home-bound persons.)  Registration is from 9:30am to noon, Monday through 
Thursday and 4:00pm to 6:00pm Thursday.. 
 
Geographic service area:  Primarily counties surrounding Jefferson City including Cole, Moniteau, Miller, 
Osage, Maries and Callaway. 
 
Areas of law in which assistance is offered:  All civil matters.  No criminal or traffic matters. 
 
Income eligibility:  The program is primarily for persons whose household income is at or below 150% of 
federal poverty level. 
 
 
Special information and resources for attorneys: 

• Representation is between you and the client:  We expect that you wish to reserve final judgment on 
whether or not you will accept the applicant as a client and whether as a pro bono or a reduced fee 
arrangement until after you have interviewed the applicant.   

• Cases referred to volunteer attorneys may involve legal services without compensation, reduced fee 
services or limited scope representation. 

•  Expenses:  It is Legal Care’s goal that attorneys and mediators who provide free or reduced fee 
services to persons referred by the program will not have out-of-pocket expenses.   Legal Care will pay 
expenses from the donated funds which are pre-approved.  Donations to the Legal Care fund are tax 
deductible. 

• Support resources:  The facilities of the Samaritan Center are available to volunteer attorneys 
accepting clients from Legal Care for conferences during times that the staff is present, i.e. 8:00 am to 
5:00 pm Monday, Wednesday and Friday and 8:00am to 6:00 pm. Tuesday and Thursday.  Contact 
Jackie Mathews, for scheduling (573-634-7776). 

• Mentors:  Experienced volunteer attorneys are available to mentor less experienced attorneys on legal 
matters. 

• Mediation:  Legal Care encourages mediation where appropriate.  Volunteer lawyer and non-lawyer 
mediators are available to work with attorneys and clients. 

• Forms library:  Forms are available especially for limited scope representation matters. 
• Malpractice coverage:  Legal Care is approved to participate in the free malpractice coverage 

provided by the State of Missouri.  We will assist you is registering for the coverage. 
• Language translation:  Spanish translators are available through El Puente. 

mailto:LegalCare@MidMoSamaritan.org
http://www.midmosamaritan.org/legalcare


 9

• Free MCLE:  In appreciation for the contributions of volunteer attorneys and to develop skills for pro 
bono representation, Legal Care provides free MCLE programs.  Legal Care is approved by Mo Bar as 
a MCLE sponsor. 

• Social services support:  Legal Care is a program of the Samaritan Center.  The Center provides 
numerous services to needy persons including: food, clothing, furniture, a dental and medical clinic, 
assistance with obtaining free medications from drug companies, state and federal tax assistance, 
utility assistance, rent assistance and other monetary assistance.  Frequently when assisting a pro bono 
client, the client has need for basic services.  Samaritan Center can help with these allowing the 
attorney to take a holistic view of the client’s needs. 

• Tax assistance:  Through volunteers Legal Care provides assistance to low-income persons on federal 
and Missouri income returns in order to help them obtain the credits (e.g. Earned Income Tax credit 
and Missouri Property/Renter Tax Credit) and refunds to which they are entitled. 



 10

 
Email exchange re 

 Legal Services serving as match maker or gateway for unserved pro bono clients. 
 
7/28/09 
From Doug Kays 
 
Lou, 
LSC grantees all match make everyday on pro bono and judicare cases.  That is not a 
problem.  In fact, we are truly experts in matchmaking.  Here is the problem.  We 
probably could match make if an applicant is over income. 
However, that is more work for the organizations and we are already at our limit in that 
regard.  So, most LSC programs would not want to add that to their workload.  Also, we 
would not be allowed to match make if the applicant was in a category not allowed by LSC 
such as a prisoner.  That is clear--we don't need to ask LSC on that one. 
 
Therefore, we already match clients and private attorneys in our Private Attorney 
Involvement programs if the client is eligible under the LSC grant or some other grant 
such as an Older Americans grant (an applicant 60 or over can be over income).  However, 
we could only refer someone to another organization if they are not eligible under one 
of our grants.  In other words, we could not do the match making ourselves but we could 
refer that person to another organization that could do the match making. 
 
 
Doug 
 
 
Douglas B. Kays 
Executive Director 
Legal Services of Southern Missouri 
 
 
From: Lou DeFeo [mailto:LegalCare@midmosamaritan.org] 
Sent: Friday, July 24, 2009 10:37 AM 
To: Douglas Kays 
Cc: Deanna Scott 
Subject: RE: Pro bono plan - gateway 
 
Thanks Doug. 
 
As I understand the question is whether Legal Services could prescreen applicants as to 
their financial need and the nature of their legal problem to the point that they could 
appropriately match the applicant to a volunteer attorney much the same way that is done 
in the volunteer attorneys projects. 
Key to the success of the present proposal is effective "matchmaking" or prescreening.  
Giving a needy person bare information as to where they might find help would not be the 
"matchmaking" that is intended. 
 
I assume that you could "match make" an applicant who met your eligibility criteria 
since that is what happens in the VAP programs. 
But can Legal Services "matchmaker" an applicant who does no meet your eligibility 
criteria (e.g. over 125% FPL, in prison etc.)?  
 
Is there someone at LSC who can give guidance? 
 
Thanks. 
 
Lou 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Douglas Kays [mailto:Douglas@LSOSM.ORG] 

mailto:LegalCare@midmosamaritan.org
mailto:Douglas@LSOSM.ORG


 11

Sent: Thursday, July 23, 2009 2:45 PM 
To: Lou DeFeo 
Cc: Deanna Scott 
Subject: RE: Pro bono plan - gateway 
 
Lou, 
I have given this a great deal of thought and I cannot come up with any other ideas 
other than what we currently do.  All legal aid programs refer those they cannot help to 
other sources of help such as social service agencies, Lawyer Referral Services, etc.  
If there was another place to refer people, such as a central pro bono organization, we 
would be happy to do so. 
Doug 
 
 
Douglas B. Kays 
Executive Director 
Legal Services of Southern Missouri 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Lou DeFeo [mailto:LegalCare@midmosamaritan.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, July 21, 2009 4:20 PM 
To: Lou DeFeo; Douglas Kays 
Subject: RE: Pro bono plan - gateway 
 
  
Doug, 
 
Have you been able to develop anything on Legal Services serving as the gateway for pro 
bono referrals? 
 
Lou 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Douglas Kays [mailto:Douglas@LSOSM.ORG] 
Sent: Monday, May 18, 2009 3:41 PM 
To: Lou DeFeo 
Subject: RE: Pro bono plan - gateway 
 
Lou, 
I was out of town all last week at a national conference and I am trying to play catch-
up.  We have the LSC application for continued funding due the first week in June and a 
board meeting the second week in June.  I will have to check with the other executive 
directors on their ideas about what we can do as a gateway for statewide pro bono before 
I can draft anything. 
Considering the heavy schedule I have between now and June 5, it is highly unlikely that 
I can get something to you by then.  I will try. 
 
Also, your e-mail indicates that you hope the DLS subcommittee can have a report in time 
for the CAFC meeting.  I am not on that subcommittee and cannot speak for them. 
 
Doug 
 
Douglas B. Kays 
Executive Director 
Legal Services of Southern Missouri 
 

mailto:LegalCare@midmosamaritan.org
mailto:Douglas@LSOSM.ORG


 12

Summary of Dick Halliburton’s Concerns from DLS Committee Minutes, May 9, 2009 
 
Excerpt from DLS minutes: 
 
Dick Halliburton said that the remainder of the meeting would be devoted to discussion of a draft proposal 
entitled “Matchmaking Pro Bono Attorneys to Needy Clients” drafted by committee member, Lou DeFeo, 
who had sent the proposal out to the Delivery of Legal Services listserv a few days ago.  Committee member, 
Deanna Scott, had sent to the listserv a response on behalf of the four legal services programs setting out how 
in many instances the legal services programs’  
 
Volunteer Attorney Projects already had in place the systems proposed.   
 
Committee members discussed the fact: 
 

• that there are gaps in the delivery of legal services to low-income people in Missouri, 
•  the development of new technology tools to permit easy registration on the MO Bar 

website of  attorneys wishing to provide pro bono services,  
• the need to strictly limit access to such a list, and  
• the possibility of some new system to link pro bono attorneys with clients who cannot 

be served by the legal services programs such as those who are incarcerated.   
• All agreed that there is a need statewide to recruit more pro bono attorneys, 
•  but there was concern that there not be competition for these attorneys among pro bono 

programs and projects.   
• Concern was also voiced that along with recruiting more pro bono attorneys, there is a 

need to adequately train the attorneys to handle priority cases, 
• to monitor their work, 
• to mentor and provide support for the attorneys as needed and to place cases 

appropriately.   
• There was also concern that any new list of pro bono attorneys not result in the 

depletion of volunteer attorneys currently enrolled in legal services pro bono projects or the depletion of the 
potential pool of volunteer attorneys for the legal services programs. 
 



Email exchange re Special Committee to Develop Pro Bono Proposals. 
 

 
 
TO:             Tom Burk 
FROM:      Lou DeFeo, Volunteer Coordinator 
DATE:       6/6/09 

 
Tom, 

In keeping with my promise to inform you as we move forward, I want to report on the 
meeting Friday (June 5) of the Committee on Access to Family Courts (CAFC). At the 
meeting I reported on developments in the pro bono plan over the last month and Deanna 
Scott reported on the subcommittee appointed by Dick Halliburton of the Delivery of Legal 
Services Committee. During the discussion Bob Stoeckl mentioned that the bar associations 
in Kansas City, St. Louis and Springfield have pro bono programs and that he thought they 
should be consulted.  

Lori Levine, co-chair of the CAFC, asked Dick and Bob to meet with her after the meeting. At 
that time she discussed the benefit of getting more points of view involved and that we should 
avoid "politicizing" pro bono. She urged Bob to meet with Keith and urge that Mo Bar set up a 
special committee on pro bono services including members of the DLS subcommittee but 
also the KC, St. Louis and Springfield bar associations and others. 

This is a good idea. 

We did not reduce the discussion to writing. The words below are mine but I hope they are 
consistent with the spirit of Lori’s recommendation. I am copying her in case I am misstating 
the concepts. I am not copying Keith so that Bob has a chance to speak with him first. 

Members: The special committee should be composed of members of the Bar who are 
actively engaged in or highly interested in promoting pro bono services for persons living at 
the margins of our society. As Lori said, "This should not be a one-man band." No single 
individual or group should design the proposal but a committee broadly representative of the 
bar. 

Goal: The special committee should begin with the framework recommended by CAFC on 
April 10, 2009 and develop proposals to expand pro bono legal services to persons living at 
the margins of our society which proposals are comprehensive and sustainable, which 
complement and do not supplant or duplicate existing programs and which can be broadly 
supported by the diverse members and groups of the Bar. 

I think all agree that we need to fill the gap of 50,000 low-income households annually who 
are without legal help. 

We have had one-shot efforts in the past, which quickly faded. 

I think we all agree that with the scarcity of resources, we should not duplicate or supplant 
existing programs. 

We discussed the need to be sensitive to the diversity within the Bar: rural-urban, large firm - 
small firm etc. 

 13



 14

Timeline: The committee should report its proposals to the President of the Bar (and also the 
Chief Justice) by September 1, 2009. 

 
7/20/09 

Dear Lou, 

The Executive Committee discussed extensively the topic of pro bono and how The Missouri Bar can best encourage 
and coordinate pro bono activities.  There are a variety of existing pro bono activities being conducted by various 
committees of The Missouri Bar, the YLS, metropolitan bars, legal aid offices and others, such as your program, in 
central Missouri.  Accordingly, the Executive Committee resolved to convene a meeting of all interested pro bono 
providers and coordinators through the Delivery of Legal Services Committee of The Missouri Bar, which has 
traditionally handled the delivery of legal services and pro bono.  The existing subcommittee of the Delivery of Legal 
Services Committee, which you are on, is quite knowledgeable and involved in pro bono at this time, and the Executive 
Committee thought would be the best group to convene this meeting of all interested parties.  The meeting will be 
scheduled sometime in the next six weeks at The Missouri Bar Center, and everyone is anxious to improve, better 
coordinate and enhance pro bono related services for the public in all ways possible.  

We look forward to working with you on this important project. 

Best regards. 

Keith 

 

P.S.      I am out of the country until July 29, but I will be in touch with the various interested groups after that.  

 



 
Missouri's New Corporate Pro Bono Program -- An Opportunity to Show the Nation 

From Mo Bar Journal, May-June 2004. 

 

William M. Corrigan, Jr. 

 
We are all regularly reminded that Missouri is the Show-Me State. Now, corporate counsels across 
Missouri have the opportunity to "show" their colleagues throughout the nation their complete 
commitment to pro bono activities.  

In April, The Missouri Bar launched a new, statewide corporate pro bono program, the first of its kind 
for any state bar in the nation. The program was greeted with enthusiastic support from the 
corporate community. Corporate counsel representing 27 corporations from across Missouri 
gathered at luncheons in St. Louis, Kansas City and Columbia to learn about the new program.  

Background  

Lawyers in Missouri have a proud history of providing pro bono legal services. A survey conducted 
in 2002 by the University of Missouri-Columbia indicated that, on average, Missouri lawyers provide 
42 hours per year in pro bono services to clients who cannot afford to pay for those services.  

While Missouri corporate counsels have always had a commitment to providing pro bono services, 
there have been a number of barriers preventing them from giving back to their communities. Those 
barriers include time constraints, lack of training or expertise, concerns about malpractice coverage, 
and lack of support from senior management.  

In response, the Board of Governors of The Missouri Bar appointed Board member Karen 
McCarthy, president and CEO of The Bar Plan Mutual Insurance Company (and a former general 
counsel of The Bar Plan), to develop a program to facilitate the involvement of corporate counsel in 
pro bono activities. Other members of the Corporate Pro Bono Committee include Gen Frank (St. 
Louis), Jolie Justus (Kansas City), and Missouri Bar Board of Governors members Tom Lang (St. 
Louis), Rick Bien (Kansas City) and Dick Halliburton (Kansas City). After surveying more than 400 
corporate counsels from across the state to design a program to meet their needs, Karen and her 
committee established this program.  

How Does the Program Work?  

A special website http:\\members.mobar.org \CorpProBono\ webform1.aspx has been developed by 
Wayne Greer of The Missouri Bar staff, where not-for-profit organizations, corporate counsel and 
private law firms can register to participate in the program. The web page includes descriptions of 
pro bono opportunities that are uniquely tailored to corporate counsel, answers to frequently asked 

 15

http://members.mobar.org/CorpProBono/webform1.aspx


 16

questions about malpractice insurance, time constraints and other issues, listings of law firms that 
are willing to partner with corporate counsel on pro bono activities, and much more information.  

Not-for-profit organizations across Missouri can submit pro bono projects to TheMissouri Bar 
through this corporate pro bono web page that has been established by the bar. Each request will 
be screened and, if a manageable and appropriate request, placed on the website.  

Corporate counsel can register for the pro bono projects through the website. Moreover, the bar will 
regularly update the website with new projects and contact corporate counsel about the availability 
of these projects. The corporate pro bono program is designed for corporate legal departments from 
one lawyer to large corporate legal departments, where two or more lawyers and paralegals may 
want to work in teams.  

Private law firms will also be involved in the program. Attorneys in private practice will provide 
expertise in a number of areas of the law in which corporate attorneys may not have the experience 
or training. Moreover, private law firms have also signed up to split the work load with corporate law 
departments, which will allow a greater variety of projects to be accepted into the program. Finally, 
the legal aid offices throughout Missouri have also agreed to provide training and support.  

Good Corporate Citizens  

Thus far, the following corporations across Missouri have expressed their interest and support of the 
program, and I would like to recognize and thank them for their support:  
Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. 
Applebee's 
The Bar Plan 
BJC Healthcare 
The Boeing Company 
Brown Shoe Company, Inc. 
Emerson Electric Company 
Employers Reinsurance Corporation 
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis 
First Consulting & Administration, Inc. 
Forever Enterprises, Inc. 
Furniture Brands International 
J.E. Dunn Construction 
Kansas City Life Insurance Company 
KPMG LLP 
Laclede Gas Company 
The Lockwood Group 
May Department Stores 
Metro Specialties, Inc. 
Missouri Consolidated Health Care Plan 
Protective Asset Protection Division 
Shelter Insurance Companies 
Sprint Corporation 
U.S. Title Company 
UMB Bank 
University of Missouri-Columbia 
Water District One of Johnson County, Kansas  
 
Corporate Pro Bono Award  



 17

I am pleased to announce that the Board of Governors, at its May meeting, voted unanimously to 
establish a "Corporate Pro Bono Award" to be presented annually at the Annual Meeting of The 
Missouri Bar "to a Missouri corporate lawyer or legal department that has demonstrated a significant 
commitment of time and/or resources to further the tradition and fulfill the duty of providing pro bono 
legal services to individuals or not-for-profits who would otherwise not have access to justice."  

I hope to have the opportunity to present this award at the Annual Meeting in St. Louis on October 1, 
2004.  

Let Us Show the Nation  

One of the great traditions of our profession, and one of our privileges and duties, is to provide free 
legal assistance to those who cannot afford it. The barriers that previously made it difficult for 
corporate counsel to provide pro bono work have now been removed.  

If you are a corporate counsel, no matter whether you are in a large or small legal department, The 
Missouri Bar's corporate pro bono website provides you (and members of your staff, such as 
paralegals) with a wonderful opportunity to fulfill that duty.  

If you are in a law firm and are interested in partnering with corporate counsel, you may also register 
through The Missouri Bar's web page.  

I would like to express our deep gratitude to Karen McCarthy and Wayne Greer, who have spent 
countless hours working on this initiative to make it a reality. I would also like to thank Karen's 
committee, which has also worked diligently on this initiative.  

Finally, I would like to again thank and congratulate all of the corporations around Missouri that have 
supported this program. I know that they will take this opportunity to continue the long tradition of 
pro bono service in our state and be examples to their colleagues around the country. 
 



 18

EXCEPTS FROM --- 
Supporting Justice II 

A Report on the Pro Bono Work 
of America’s Lawyers 

The ABA Standing Committee on Pro Bono and Public Service 
February 2009 

 
Key Findings  (p. vi) 
 
Defining Pro Bono Service 
The majority of attorneys interviewed (64%) indicated that legal work had to be delivered free to 
be considered pro bono. When attorneys were asked about their most recent case in the past 
year, however, 90% of the attorneys indicated that they had provided legal services for free. 
When serving a person, more than two-thirds of the attorneys agreed that the person had to be of 
limited means. If the client is an organization, most of the attorneys (72%) believed that only 
some not-for-profit organizations qualify for pro bono representation. About one third of the 
attorneys felt that a for-profit organization could also qualify for pro bono representation. 
Responding to a provided list of activities that were not legal services, most of the attorneys were 
willing to accept that some activities other than the direct provision of legal services could be 
considered pro bono. 
 
Past Year Pro Bono Service 
The survey found that during the twelve months preceding the survey, 73% of respondents 
provided free legal services to persons of limited means or to organizations that address the 
needs of persons of limited means (i.e. Tier 1 service). The study findings indicate that the 
average attorney reported providing 41 hours of Tier 1 service during this time period. Overall, 
approximately one-fourth of the sample indicated that they had provided 50 hours or more of 
free legal services to persons of limited means or to organizations that support the needs of 
persons of limited means. Approximately one-third of the attorneys indicated that they 
performed some form of pro bono service in the last year that did not meet the Tier 1 definition. 
Approximately one-fifth of the attorneys participating in the study stated that they did not do any 
form of pro bono work in the past year. 
 
Attributes of Most Recent Pro Bono Service 
In describing their most recent pro bono service, the vast majority of attorneys who had provided 
pro bono in the past year reported that their most recent work was provided for free. Notably, 
82% of these attorneys indicated that the number of hours provided and the tasks that they 
performed were consistent with their expectations (94%). 
 
Two-thirds of the attorneys who had provided pro bono service in the past year indicated that the 
entity served was a person rather than an organization. Slightly fewer than half indicated that the 
client was referred to them, with a legal aid organization clearly being the number one source of 
referrals. Overwhelmingly, attorneys receiving a referral were familiar with the referral source 
before accepting the client. Forty-three (43%) percent of those who had indicated some preexisting 
familiarity with the referral source or the client believed that they would have accepted 
the engagement on a pro bono basis even if both parties had been unknown to them. 
 
Encouraging Pro Bono Activity 
More than three-fourths of those who had performed pro bono service in the past year indicated 
that they do not seek out pro bono opportunities: the opportunities find them. Both providers and 



 19

non-providers of pro bono identified that providing free training or CLE credit for pro bono and 
giving the attorney the ability to define the scope of the engagement were the most powerful 
incentives to encourage greater pro bono activity. 
 
Discouraging Pro Bono Activity 
Non-providers identified a lack of time as the primary reason for not providing pro bono service. 
Also, the findings indicate that the employer’s attitude towards pro bono activity seems to have a 
significant impact on attorney willingness to do pro bono. Attorneys who provided pro bono 
were significantly more likely to indicate that their employers encourage pro bono service (72%) 
than were the non-providers (36%). Non-providers were significantly more likely than the 
providers to feel that their employer had no clear pro bono policy or that their employer 
discouraged pro bono service. Notably, 27% of non-providers in the private practice setting 
indicated that no one had asked them to provide pro bono. 
 
Key findings of the National Pro Bono Survey include: (p. 1) 
► Pro bono service provided by attorneys has increased since the 2005 study. Approximately 
three-fourths of the attorneys (73%) provided some amount of pro bono to persons of 
limited means or to organizations in matters which are designed primarily to address the 
needs of persons of limited means (hereinafter referred to as Tier 1 pro bono) – an increase 
from the 66% reported in 2005. Also, attorneys on average reported providing 41 hours of 
Tier 1 pro bono service in the past year, up from 39 hours reported in 2005. 
► The vast majority of reported pro bono service was provided for free rather than at a 
substantially reduced rate. 
► The number of pro bono hours that attorneys provide, and the tasks that they perform, are 
typically consistent with their expectations and skills. Additionally, most attorneys do not 
express concern about their pro bono matter being outside of their usual practice field. 
► The employer’s attitude towards pro bono activity has a significant impact on the attorney’s 
behavior. 
► Most attorneys do not look for pro bono opportunities—the opportunities find them. 
► Private practitioners do a larger amount of pro bono hours than attorneys in the corporate 
and government sectors. 
 
There was a direct correlation between age and incidence of providing pro bono. Older attorneys 
were more likely to report doing pro bono than younger attorneys. The prime motivator for 
attorneys who did pro bono was the combined sense of professional duty and personal satisfaction 
derived from the work. The main discouragement from doing pro bono work, or doing more, was 
lack of time (69%). 
 
The results also indicated that providing pro bono work by substantially reducing legal fees was 
much less common than providing free legal services. Only 33% of the attorneys indicated doing 
any “substantially reduced fee” pro bono work. And, in terms of client source, 40% of clients were 
referred by a friend or family member and 36% were referred by some type of organized pro bono 
program. (p. 3) 
 
Respondents reported that the client’s inability to pay for representation was the key determinant in 
assessing whether the prospective client deserved pro bono representation. Services were typically 
delivered for free, with that agreement made before the services were rendered. (p. 4) 
 
Most of the attorneys indicated that they were more reactive than proactive concerning pro bono 
opportunities – the opportunities tended to find them. Key motivators of pro bono service among 
pro bono providers were an awareness of needs, the personal satisfaction of giving back to the 



 20

community, and the belief that attorneys have an obligation to give back to the community. The 
key factors discouraging pro bono service among all attorneys were a perceived lack of time and 
concerns about the potential for a mismatch between opportunities and skills. Attorneys indicated 
that matching an attorney with co-counsel specializing in the legal matter and allowing the attorney 
to define the scope of the engagement would be two factors that would encourage attorneys to do 
more pro bono. 
 
Does Pro Bono Mean Free Legal Services or Reduced Fee Legal Services? 
Sixty four percent (64%) of the attorneys indicated that legal services had to be free to be 
considered pro bono. (p. 8) 
 
Must the Person Receiving Pro Bono Services be a Person of Limited Means? 
Seventy percent (70%) of the attorneys indicated that a person receiving pro bono had to be of 
limited means.  (p. 8) 
 
How Many Attorneys Did Tier 1 Pro Bono in the Last Year? 
During the 12 month period prior to the survey, 73% of the attorneys provided some type of Tier 1 
service. This percentage was significantly higher in the private practice (81%) setting than in the 
corporate (43%) and government (30%) settings.  (p. 10) 
 
What Are the Factors Causing the Attorneys to View the Client as Deserving Pro Bono 
Representation? 
For attorneys who provided pro bono to an individual, the client’s being low income or in poverty 
was the most cited factor as to whether a client deserved pro bono representation.  (p. 16) 
 
What Is the Method of Determining the Income Level of the Client? 
Among attorneys who accepted a client for pro bono because the client was low income or in 
poverty, only 6% obtained some form of proof of income. Most attorneys used a more 
impressionistic method of determining a client’s income. The referral source was also seen as an 
important indicator of eligibility. (p. 16-17) 
 
To What Extent Do Attorneys Seek Fees For Their Most Recent Pro Bono Engagement? 
More than 90% of attorneys providing pro bono services in the 12-month period in question 
indicated that their most recent work was provided for free.  (p. 17) 
 
Are Attorneys Reactive or Proactive Concerning Pro Bono Opportunities? 
A clear majority of attorneys who had provided pro bono service in the past year (77%) said that 
they do not go looking for pro bono work – the opportunities find them. Women surveyed were 
more likely to seek opportunities than men although this doesn’t translate to more hours. Younger 
attorneys (21-40) were more likely to seek opportunities than older attorneys. In the private 
practice setting, attorneys in the largest firms (101+ attorneys; 34%) were more likely to seek 
opportunities (or both seek opportunities and react to those that are presented to them) than those in 
the smaller firms.   (p. 19) 
 
What Are the Main Incentives for Attorneys to Increase Pro Bono Work? 
All attorneys were asked to rate a list of factors by how strongly they agreed with the statement, “I 
think lawyers would be more inclined to do pro bono work if they:” 
• Had a wide range of volunteer opportunities from which to select 
• Were offered free training and CLE credit for services performed 
• Were encouraged by a judge to take a pro bono case 
• Were asked by a colleague to take a pro bono case 



 21

• Received administrative support for the engagement 
• Received research support concerning the legal matter 
• Were matched with another attorney to share the work 
• Were mentored by an attorney specializing in the legal matter 
• Were permitted to define the scope of the engagement, such as handling a specific task, 
instead of a total representation of the client 
• Were approached by a pro bono organization to take a case 
• Received free malpractice insurance for work related to the case 
 
These factors were identified because they would translate to reasonably achievable activities. The 
respondents were given a 5 to 1 scale, with 5 meaning “strongly agree” and 1 meaning “do not 
agree at all.” Among providers of pro bono, potential motivators receiving the highest agreement 
scores were, in rank order, free training/CLE credit for service provided, the ability to define the 
scope of the engagement and encouragement by a judge. Among non-providers of pro bono, 
potential motivators receiving the highest agreement scores were, in rank order, free training/CLE 
credit for service provided, free malpractice insurance and the ability to define the scope of the 
engagement.  (p. 19-20) 
 
What Impact Does Employer Attitude Have on Encouraging or Discouraging Pro Bono Service? 
Attorneys who provided pro bono were significantly more likely to indicate that their employers 
encourage pro bono service (72%) than were the non-providers (36%). This encouragement was 
reported significantly more often among attorneys in the private practice setting (76%) than among 
those working in corporate (60%) or government (50%) settings. Also, attorneys working in the 
largest firms (97%) felt that their employers encouraged pro bono service – much more than those 
in smaller firms. In addition, a significantly higher percentage of the younger attorneys than the 
older attorneys indicated that their employers encourage pro bono activity. 
 
Non-providers were significantly more likely than the providers to feel that their employer had no 
clear pro bono policy (45% versus 23%), or that their employer discouraged pro bono service (19% 
versus 5%). Non-providers in government (33%) or corporate (23%) settings were significantly 
more likely to indicate that their employers discouraged pro bono work than were those working in 
private practice. (p. 21) 
 
What are the Top Factors that Most Discouraged Pro Bono Work in the Past Year? 
Non-providers of Pro Bono were asked what the top two factors were that discouraged them from 
providing pro bono service in the past year. The top two factors mentioned were lack of time and 
employer related issues. Notably, 27% of non-providers in the private practice setting indicated that 
no one had asked them to provide pro bono.  (p. 22) 
 
Non-providers were also asked to rate specific factors that discouraged them from performing pro 
bono in the 12 months preceding the survey. * * * The following factors were reviewed for 
their level of influence: 
• A lack of time 
• Competing billable hour expectations and policies 
• A commitment to family obligations 
• A lack of skills or experience in the practice areas needed by pro bono clients 
• A lack of information about opportunities 
• Discouragement from your employer 
• A lack of administrative support or resources 
• A lack of malpractice insurance 
• A lack of desire 



 22

Non-providers identified the top two factors that discouraged pro bono work as 1) A lack of time 
and 2) Family commitments.  (p. 22-23) 
 
Do Non-Providers Try to Identify Pro Bono Opportunities? 
Most attorneys reported not having taken any specific action to identify pro bono opportunities. (p. 24) 
 
For full report see: http://www.abanet.org/legalservices/probono/report2.pdf 

http://www.abanet.org/legalservices/probono/report2.pdf


 

 23



 24
 


	Agenda 8-28-09 DRAFT
	COMMITTEE ON ACCESS TO FAMILY COURTS - 8-19-09 final
	Agenda Package DRAFT.pdf
	DRRF Grant App FY09.pdf
	1. GRANT APPLICATION FOR FY08
	Litigant Awareness Program for 
	Self-Represented Litigants in Family Law Cases

	BUDGET CATEGORIES
	 AMOUNT REQUESTED
	FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT
	RESOURCE MATERIALS FOR PARTICIPANTS AND PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT
	CONSTRUCTION
	CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
	ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AND SUPPLIES
	TRAINING
	TOTAL AMOUNT OF FUNDS REQUESTED





